

การผลิตไซโลโอลิโกแซคคาไรด์และแมนโนโอลิโกแซคคาไรด์จากเฮมิเซลลูโลส ของชีวมวลและประยุกต์ใช้เป็นพรีไบโอติกและสารต้านอนุมูลอิสระ POTENTIAL FOR XYLOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (XOS) AND MANNOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (MOS) PRODUCTION FROM A HEMICELLULOSE FRACTION OF BIOMASS AND APPLICATION AS PREBIOTICS AND ANTIOXIDANTS

KANOKNAT WORANUCH

Graduate School Srinakharinwirot University

2019

การผลิตไซโลโอลิโกแซคคาไรด์และแมนโนโอลิโกแซคคาไรด์จากเฮมิเซลลูโลส ของชีวมวลและประยุกต์ใช้เป็นพรีไบโอติกและสารต้านอนุมูลอิสระ



ปริญญานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตร ปรัชญาดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาอณูชีววิทยา คณะแพทยศาสตร์ มหาวิทยาลัยศรีนครินทรวิโรฒ ปีการศึกษา 2562 ลิขสิทธิ์ของมหาวิทยาลัยศรีนครินทรวิโรฒ POTENTIAL FOR XYLOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (XOS) AND MANNOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (MOS) PRODUCTION FROM A HEMICELLULOSE FRACTION OF BIOMASS AND APPLICATION AS PREBIOTICS AND ANTIOXIDANTS



A Dissertation Submitted in partial Fulfillment of Requirements for DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (Molecular Biology) Faculty of Medicine Srinakharinwirot University 2019

Copyright of Srinakharinwirot University

THE DISSERTATION TITLED

POTENTIAL FOR XYLOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (XOS) AND MANNOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (MOS) PRODUCTION FROM A HEMICELLULOSE FRACTION OF BIOMASS AND APPLICATION AS PREBIOTICS AND ANTIOXIDANTS

> BY KANOKNAT WORANUCH

HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

AT SRINAKHARINWIROT UNIVERSITY

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Chatchai Ekpanyaskul, MI	Dean of Graduate School D.)
ORAL DEFENSE Co	OMMITTEE Chair (Prof. Dr. Sarawut, litranakdea, Ph. D.)
	(Hot. DI.Sarawut Shrapakdee, Ph.D.) Committee (Assoc. Prof. Dr.Busaba Panyarachun, Ph.D.)

..... Committee

(Assoc. Prof. Dr.WASANA SUKHUMSIRICHART, Ph.D.)

Title	POTENTIAL FOR XYLOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (XOS) AND	
	MANNOOLIGOSACCHARIDE (MOS) PRODUCTION FROM A	
	HEMICELLULOSE FRACTION OF BIOMASS AND APPLICATION AS	
	PREBIOTICS AND ANTIOXIDANTS	
Author	KANOKNAT WORANUCH	
Degree	DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY	
Academic Year	2019	
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Dr. WASANA SUKHUMSIRICHART, Ph.D.	

Most prebiotics are substances in the group of short carbohydrates or oligosaccharides, obtained from lignocellulosic biomass. In this study, two types of oligosaccharides were produced, including xylooligosaccharides (XOS) from alkaline-pretreated rice straw using rXynSW3 and manooligosaccharides (MOS) from Konjac by using rManS2 and assessed for their potential as prebiotics and antioxidants. The antioxidant property was evaluated using DPPH assay. The results showed that the antioxidant value (IC₅₀) were 542.27±0.59 µg/ml and 643.06±0.05 µg/ml for XOS and MOS, respectively, compared to 494.72±0.15 µg/ml of ascorbic acid as standard. The prebiotic property was performed by in vitro and in vivo fermentation in probiotics. For the in vitro experiment, XOS was fermented with probiotic strains, Lactobacillus plantarum TISTR543, L. casei TISTR390, and Bifidobacterium bifidum TISTR2129, whereas MOS was fermented with L. plantarum N25. The in vitro study of prebiotic effect on probiotics found that XOS and MOS were capable of stimulating the growth of all of the probiotics tested. For the in vivo study, the XOS and MOS were tested in mice (BALB/cAJcl) for the valuation of prebiotic property and safety. The results indicated that all mice treated with XOS and MOS were normal compared to the control group and there were no deaths. In the MOS experiment, the amount of probiotics significantly increased in mice-treated with a synbiotic (L. plantarum and MOS) compared to probiotic and control groups (P<0.001). Furthermore, short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) production by MOS were also investigated both in vitro and in vivo by using HPLC. The results of in vitro SCFAs production found lactic acid and acetic acid, whereas the in vivo study found more SCFAs in the feces samples of mice, including lactic acid, acetic acid, propionic acid and butyric acid. All of the results from this study demonstrated that XOS from alkaline-pretreated rice straw and MOS from Konjac mannan have a potential for use as a prebiotic and an antioxidant.

Keyword : xylooligosaccharide, mannooligosaccharide, prebiotics, probiotics

D



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my deepest feeling and sincere gratitude to my thesis advisor, Associate Professor Dr. Wasana Sukhumsirichart, for her suggestions, comments and understanding. She kindly accepted me as her graduate student and did more than I can describe here throughout research study.

I would like to thank Professor Dr. Tatsuji Sakamoto, Division of Application Life Science, Graduate School of Life and Environment Science, Osaka Prefecture University, Japan, for consulting, support, and advice on my research.

I also would like to thank my committe, Professor Dr. Sarawut Jittrapakdee, Associate Professor Dr. Panaree Busarakhumtragul, Associate Professor Dr. Busaba Panyarachun for their work as committee members and their recommendation for the research.

I am deeply grateful to Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot University, as well as Osaka Prefecture University, Japan, for supporting the instruments.

I would like also to thank all my friends and staff at the Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot University and Division of Application Life Science, Graduate School of Life and Environment Science, Osaka Prefecture University, Japan, for helping and suggestion, and being the best sisters, brothers and friends.

Lasty, and most importantly, I would like to thank myself and my parents for their greatest love, support, and listening to my concerns beside me, which helped me overcome all the challenges and difficities in my work.

KANOKNAT WORANUCH

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ABSTRACT D
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSF
TABLE OF CONTENTSG
LIST OF TABLESK
LIST OF FIGURESL
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION 1
Objectives2
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW
1. The biomass of plant cell wall3
1.1 Polymer of cellulose4
1.2 Polymer of hemicellulose4
1.3 Polymer of lignin5
2. Xylan6
2.1 Xylanolytic enzymes6
2.2 The recombinant xylanase (rXynSW3) production7
2.3 Degradation of xylan by rXynSW38
3. Mannan9
3.1 Classification of mannan9
3.2 Mannan-degradation enzymes10
3.3 Mannanase production from <i>Bacillus</i> sp. SWU6010
3.4 Degradation of Konjac glucomannan (KGM) by rManS211

4. Prebiotic
4.1 The basis for classification of prebiotic compounds12
4.2 Types of Prebiotics
4.3 Prebiotic effect on probiotics14
4.4 Prebiotic effect on pathogens15
5. Application of prebiotics15
5.1 Infectious diarrhea15
5.2 Immunomodulation16
5.3 Lipid metabolism
5.4 Other benefits
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS
1. Materials
1.1 Microorganisms
1.2 Chemicals and reagents18
1.3 Animal
2. Methods19
2.1 Preparation and assay for prebiotic properties of xylooligosaccharide (XOS)
2.1.1 Rice straw preparation19
2.1.2 The preparation of rXynSW3 enzyme19
2.1.3 Rice xylan degrading rXynSW3 and purification of XOS by charcoal
column20
2.1.4 Determination of antioxidant activity by DPPH assay21
2.1.5 Determination of reducing sugar in enzymatic products

2.1.6 Prebiotic effect on probiotics	24
2.1.7 Safety test <i>in vivo</i>	25
2.1.8 Statistical analysis	26
2.2 Preparation and prebiotic properties assay of mannooligosaccharide (M	OS)
	27
2.2.1 Production and purification of 1,4- β -mannanase enzyme	27
2.2.2 Preparation of glucomannan from Konjac and digestion with rMa	nS2
	28
2.2.3 Purification of mannooligosaccharides	28
2.2.4 Assay of antioxidant activity by DPPH assay	29
2.2.5 Study of prebiotic properties in vitro	30
2.2.6 Properties of prebiotic in animal experiment	31
2.2.7 Statistical analysis	32
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	33
Part 1: Xylooligosaccharide (XOS)	33
Degradation of rice xylan by rXynSW3	33
Antioxidant property of xylooligosaccharides	34
Prebiotic effect of enzymatic products on probiotics	35
In vivo testing for safety of the XOS from pretreated-rice straw	40
Part 2: Mannooligosaccharide (MOS)	43
MOS preparation from Konjac degrading by rManS2 enzyme	43
Assay of antioxidant activity by DPPH method	44
Prebiotic effect of MOS from Konjac on probiotics	45
Detection of SCFAs in vitro of MOS tested	45

Properties of prebiotic in animal experiment47
The study of the increase of probiotics in experimental animals
The analysis of SCFAs in feces in MOS-treated mice
CHAPTER V Discussion
Part 1: Xylooligosaccharide (XOS)50
Rice xylan degrading by rXynSW3 enzyme50
Assay of antioxidant activity of XOS from rice straw50
Prebiotic effect of XOS from rice straw on probiotics
Safety of XOS by <i>in vivo</i> study52
Part 2: Mannooligosaccharide (MOS)53
Konjac degrading by rManS2 enzyme53
Assay of antioxidant activity of MOS from Konjac mannan
Prebiotic effect of MOS from Konjac mannan on probiotics53
Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) detected in vitro of MOS tested
Properties of MOS as prebiotic in experiment mice
REFERENCES
VITA

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1. Percentage of components of lignocellulosic biomass from different source.	4
Table 2. HPAEC condition for enzymatic products analysis.	21
Table 3. Preparation of each xylose concentration.	23
Table 4. Parameters measured for hematology and clinical chemistry analysis.	26
Table 5. HPAEC condition of enzymatic products analysis.	29
Table 6. Mean of body weight (g) values of mice treated with the XOS from rice straw	. 40
Table 7. Mean values of hematology and clinical chemistry	42
Table 8. Percent yield of MOS from degradation Konjac by rManS2 enzyme	44
Table 9. The SCFAs products concentration in vitro after incubation MOS from Konjac	С
with <i>L. plantarum</i> N25	46
Table 10. Mean of body weights (g) values of mice treated with MOS from Konjac	47
Table 11. Mean of number of <i>L. plantarum</i> N25 from 100 mg feces sample by plate	
count method	48
Table 12. The concentration of SCFAs production found in each mice group	49

LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1. Compose of lignocellulosic biomass
Figure 2. Cellulose polymer structure4
Figure 3. The type of sugar monomers found in hemicellulose5
Figure 4. Lignin polymer structure5
Figure 5. Xylan structure6
Figure 6. Xylanolytic enzyme7
Figure 7. Pie chart of isolation of xylanase in different organism
Figure 8. HPAEC assay of degradation products. Authentic samples X1 to X5 represent
xylose to xylopentose, respectively8
Figure 9. Mannan structures9
Figure 10. Mannan gedradation enzymes10
Figure 11. HPAEC analyses of substrate degraded by rManS2, (a) Linear mannan and
(b) Konjac glucomannan (KGM), KGM-1, glucosyl mannobiose; KGM-2, cellobiosyl
mannobiose11
Figure 12. Prebiotic origin. Adapted from Magalhaes et al13
Figure 13. Ideal for probiotic strain14
Figure 14. Flowchart of xylooligosaccharide (XOS) study19
Figure 15. Calibration curve of each xylose concentration at 570 nm by using
dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) assay
Figure 16. Flowchart of mannooligosaccharide (MOS) study27
Figure 17. HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products (A) non-pretreatment rice straw with
rXynSW3 for 24 h and (B) HPLC analyzed of the enzymatic product from non-

pretreatment rice straw (C) HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products from alkaline-
pretreatment rice straw with rXynSW3 for 24 h. The standard xylose and
xylooligosaccharides are X1, X2, X3, X4; xylose, xylobiose, xylotriose, and xylotetraose,
respectively
Figure 18. Percent scavenging by DPPH assay; ($igoplus$) Non-pretreated rice straw
products, (\blacksquare) Pretreated rice straw products, and (\blacktriangle) Ascorbic acid
Figure 19. Growth curve of probiotics and pH values of MRS media with the enzymatic
products from non-pretreated rice straw; L. plantarum F33 (A, B), and B. adolescentis
JCM1275 (C, D), the MRS medium without enzymatic products was used as negative
control
Figure 20. Growth curve of pathogens and pH values of MRS media with the enzymatic
products of non- pretreated rice straw; B. vulgatus JCM5826 (A, B), and C. hiranonis
JCM10541 (C, D), the MRS medium without enzymatic products was used as negative
control
Figure 21. Effect of XOS on probiotics (A) Growth curve of <i>L. plantarum</i> TISTR543,
(B) Growth curve of <i>L. casei</i> TISTR390, and (C) Growth curve of <i>B. bifidum</i> TISTR2129,
the basal medium without XOS sample was used as control
Figure 22. Effect of XOS on pathogenic bacteria (A) Growth curve of E. coli TISTR073,
(B) Growth curve of S. enterica subs.enterica TISTR2519, and (C) Growth curve of C.
<i>typhimurium</i> TISTR1032, the basal medium without XOS sample was used as control39
Figure 23. Growth curve of mice daily feeding with XOS (mgXOS/kg per day); control
(double-distilled water), low dose (2000), mid dose (5000), and high dose (9000) group.
XOS: xylooligosaccharide
Figure 24. HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products (A) 1%Konjac with rManS2 at 0, 24 h
and (B) 1%Konjac with rManS2 at 24 h. M1, M2, M3, M4, and M5; mannose,
mannobiose, mannotriose, mannotetraose, and mannopentose, respectively
Figure 25. Percent converging by DDDH accove (\bullet) MOS from Kenico, and 44

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Lignocellulosic waste material for example straw, bagasse, corn stover, wheat stover etc.^(1, 2) are produced from many agro-industrial each year. Therefore, conversation of this wastes to high-valuable compounds or renewable energy will promote an income and protect environment. For these reasons, technology and methods that develop for agricultural and agro-industrial wastes to obtained valueadded products are important.^(3, 4) In the recent years, researchers focused on producing prebiotics⁽⁵⁾ from new sources included natural products which save for used, low-cost, and have potential of prebiotic etc.⁽⁶⁾ The definition of prebiotic following to FAO that "Prebiotics are ingredients of food that non-digested by host but correlated with modulation of the microbiota to promotes good health for host" which not all fibre are prebiotic.⁽⁷⁾ Prebiotics are important for encourage the sustainability of healthy good bacteria therefore have benefit on the host (probiotics).^(8, 9) The prebiotic that have been known such as sorbitol, isomalt, xylitol, inulin, oligosaccharides etc. The oligosaccharides that act as prebiotic included fructooligosaccharides (FOS), galactooligosaccharides (GOS), xylooligosaccharides (XOS), and mannooligosaccharides (MOS).(10, 11).^(10, 11)

Xylooligosaccharides (XOS), a type of oligosaccharide, established from xylose monomer with β -1,4-glycosidic linkage which are calorie-free and non-digested by mammals and contain in vegetables, fruits, milk, honey and other foods.⁽¹²⁾ Recently, the prebiotics have been increased roles and are interested in many industries including foods and medicals.⁽¹³⁾ They have important properties such as antioxidant and stimulated growth of probiotics, especially, effect on probiotics which beneficial to host. *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* spp. are beneficial intestinal microflora.⁽¹⁴⁾ Many researches showed prebiotic potential of XOS such as the experiment in rat that used XOS additive which the result demonstrated that XOS-fed rat group have variety of *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* spp. increased in feacal sample as compared to control group.⁽¹⁵⁾ The XOS derived from corn cobs combined with *Lactobacillus*

plantarum showed antioxidant potential better than either XOS or probiotic alone.⁽¹⁶⁾ The XOS syrup producing from biomass by endoxylanase of *Bacillus pumilus* B20 stimulated growth of *L. brevis*.⁽¹⁷⁾ Furthermore, the XOS can be modulated metabolic pathway of *B. adolescentis* 15703 for highly promoted the growth.⁽¹⁸⁾ In addition to its antioxidant and promoted growth of probiotics, prebiotics also have the ability to prevent diseases from pathogens in gastrointestinal tract including *Escherichia coli*,⁽¹⁹⁻²¹⁾ *Clostridium difficile*,^(22, 23) Rotavirus,⁽²⁴⁻²⁶⁾ *Salmonella* sp.,⁽²⁷⁻²⁹⁾ *Bacteriodes* sp.⁽³⁰⁾

Mannooligosaccharides (MOS) able to produce from agri-waste by digestion with endo- β -(1,4)-mannanase. The MOS has significant stability against human enzyme and stimulated good bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract which is an essential parameter for oligosaccharides to serve as a prebiotic.⁽³¹⁾ The MOS can be promoted the proliferation of normal bacterial flora such as *L. acidophilus* and *B. infantis* were promoted host health⁽³²⁾ and inhibited pathogenic microorganisms which have been reported to stimulate the immune system to against pathogen such as *Vibrio harveyi* in Pacific white shrimp.⁽³³⁾ Furthermore, MOS can be also inhibited the growth of pathogenic strains using primary mode in fermentation.⁽³⁴⁾ Therefore, the objectives of this study are as following;

Objectives

- To produced xylooligosaccharide (XOS) from rice straw by using rXynSW3 of *Streptomyces* sp. SWU10
- To produced mannooligosaccharide (MOS) from Konjac by using rManS2 of *Bacillus* sp. SWU60
- To evaluate antioxidant activity of enzymatic products
- To assess prebiotic effect on probiotics in vitro and in vivo
- To study the safety of MOS and XOS in vivo
- To analyze short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) production by MOS *in vitro* and *in vivo*

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

1. The biomass of plant cell wall

Plant cell biomass refers to lignocelluloses or lignocellulosic biomass include cellulose, hemicelluloses (carbohydrate polymers) and lignin (aromatic polymer) (Fig. 1). The relative composition of lignocellulosic biomass correlated to the type, species, and the source of biomass.⁽²⁾ The lignocellulosic biomass are derived from agriculture residues, waste and byproduct of several industrials for example corn stover, rice husk, cane bagasse, wheat straw etc. Generally, cereal residues consist a large fraction of lignocellulose matter more than grasses, fruit and vegetable wastes.⁽³⁵⁾ Table 1 shows composition of the main complements of cell wall from a variety sources of plant cells.⁽³⁶⁾ The lignocellulosic biomass as potential source of energy and raw materials for biological products.^(37, 38)



Figure 1. Compose of lignocellulosic biomass

Ratanakhanokchai et al. (2013). *Paenibacillus curdlanolyticus* Strain B-6 Multienzyme Complex: A Novel System for Biomass Utilization.

Biomass type	Cellulose	Hemicellulose	Lignin
Softwoods	27-30	35-40	25-35
Hardwoods	38-52	16-33	20-25
Rice straw	23-28	28-36	12-14
Corn stover	38-40	24-26	7-19
Dicots	45-50	20-30	7-10
Grasses	25-40	25-50	10-30

Table 1. Percentage of components of lignocellulosic biomass from different source.

1.1 Polymer of cellulose

Cellulose $(C_6H_{10}O_5)n$ is an unbranched polysaccharide established from a linear chain of D-glucose monomer (Fig. 2).^(39, 40)



Figure 2. Cellulose polymer structure

Klemm D et al. (2005). Cellulose: fascinating biopolymer and sustainable raw material p. 3358.

1.2 Polymer of hemicellulose

Hemicellulose are heterogeneous polysaccharide contain of various sugar units (monomers) in shorter chains than cellulose such as xylan, mannan. Hemicelluloses

consisting of hexoses, pentoses, small amounts of L-sugars and many urgonic acids as side chain for example ferulic acid, rhamnose, arabinose (Fig. 3).^(41, 42)



Figure 3. The type of sugar monomers found in hemicellulose

Available from: https://www.e-education.psu.edu/egee439/node/664

1.3 Polymer of lignin

Lignin are complex polymer of aromatic residues known as phenolic monomers (monolignols).^(43, 44) Lignin play role in the mechanical strength to wood including stems, leaves and rigidity of plant walls (Fig. 4).^(45, 46)



Figure 4. Lignin polymer structure

Nimz H. (2013). Beech Lignin—Proposal of a Constitutional Scheme.

2. Xylan

Xylan is main group of hemicelluloses fraction that found in plants cell wall of grasses. Xylan is a complex polysaccharide, consisting of β -D-(1-4)-glycosidically bonds between xylosyl residues with linear structure. Typically, account for 20%–30% of total raw mass that allows for used of feedstock materials for many industries.⁽⁴⁷⁾ The xylan has variably substituted by side chains of acetyl, methylglucuronyl, L-arabinofuranosyl, glucuronyl, feruloyl and p-coumaroyl residues (Fig. 5).^(48, 49) Normally, 10-20% of backbone have substituted with arabinose which attached directly at the C2/C3 positions.



Available from: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Glucomannan

2.1 Xylanolytic enzymes

The structure of a typical xylans have various substituted at side chain. In order to completely digest the structure must be synergistic action of enzymes. in the xylanolytic enzymes group (Fig. 6).^(50, 51)

Endo-xylanase (EC 3.2.1.8) responsible for randomly inside xylan backbone.

 β -Xylosidases (EC 3.2.1.37) hydrolyze xylooligosaccharides at non-reducing end to xylose.

Acetyl xylan esterases (EC 3.1.1.6) remove the O-acetyl groups from C2/C3 positions.

 α -Glucuronidases (EC 3.2.1.131) hydrolyze of D-xylose backbone at α -1,2-glycosidic linkage to remove D-glucuronic acids.

α-L-Arabinofuranosidases (EC 3.2.1.55) break linkage between arabinofuranose residues.

p-Coumaric acid esterases (EC 3.1.1.-) digest ester bond between arabinose and coumaric acid residues.



Figure 6. Xylanolytic enzyme

Bhardwaj N et al. (2019). A detailed overview of xylanases: an emerging biomolecule for current and future prospective p.40.

2.2 The recombinant xylanase (rXynSW3) production

Xylanases (EC 3.2.1.8) are used in a variety plant-based industries for example paper and pulp bleaching, food processing, textile manufacturing, vegetable oil and starch, production of bioethanol, cotton, solvents etc.⁽⁵²⁾ These enzymes produced from many organisms but can not by mammals which microorganisms have high activity

(Fig. 7).⁽⁵³⁾ Streptomyces sp. SWU10 in previous research demonstrated that endoxylanase from this strain, termed *XynSW3* gene was overexpressed in *Escherichia coli* DH5 α . The recombinant enzyme (rXynSW3) was endo- β -1,4-xylanase in classified of GH11. The rXynSW3 was used for the xylooligosaccharides production.⁽⁵⁴⁾



2.3 Degradation of xylan by rXynSW3

The rXynSW3 has substrate specificity towards xylans with different degrees of substitution in which the substrate with low residue substitutions can be degrade by rXynSW3 more specific than the high residue substitutions. The main product of enzymatic degradation is xylooligosaccharides (Fig. 8), which have value and potential applications in many industries.⁽⁵⁴⁾



Sukhumsirichart et al. (2014). Expression and Characterization of Recombinant GH11 Xylanase from Thermotolerant *Streptomyces* sp. SWU10 p. 436.

3. Mannan

Mannan is a type of the hemicellulose which comprised from β -(1,4)-linked Dmannopyranosyl backbone. Mannan have four distinct groups depends on the relative amounts of the chemical structure (Fig. 9).^(55, 56) In some type of plants found as storage polysaccharides such as the glucomannan from the konjac plant.^(57, 58)

3.1 Classification of mannan

3.1.1 Linear mannan

It's homopolysaccharides (>95%) found in plant seed and endosperms of certain plant species such as vegetable ivory (ex. taqua plum seed).

3.1.2 Glucomannan

These types of mannose formed by $\beta\mbox{-linked}$ between mannose and glucose. $\mbox{}^{\mbox{\tiny (49)}}$

3.1.3 Galactomannan

The backbone comprised of a mannose with side groups is galactose.⁽⁵⁹⁾

3.1.4 Galactoglucomannan

In galactomannan consist of D-mannose linked D-glucose backbone have side chains of D-galactose residues attached with α -1,6-linked. $^{^{(60)}}$



Moreira LR et al. (2008). An overview of mannan structure and mannandegrading enzyme systems p.165.

3.2 Mannan-degradation enzymes

The variety of hydrolytic enzymes of mannan polysaccharide structures are glycosyl hydrolases (EC 3.2.1.-).⁽⁶¹⁾ The complication of the hemicellulose chemical of cell wall structure, wall structure, action of synergistic enzymes are required for complete hydrolyzation (Fig. 10).⁽⁶²⁾ The enzymes related in the degradation of mannans including β -mannanases (EC 3.2.1.78), β -mannosidase (EC 3.2.1.25), β -glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.21), acetyl mannan esterase (EC 3.2.1.6) and α -galactosidase (EC 3.2.1.22) are necessary for removing of the side chain of the mannans structure.^(57, 63, 64)



Freiesleben P et al. (2018). Boosting of enzymatic softwood saccharification by fungal GH5 and GH26 endomannanases.

3.3 Mannanase production from Bacillus sp. SWU60

 β -1,4-mannanases (EC 3.2.1.78) are necessary for facilitation dissolving and releasing of mannan from the substrate biomass, hydrolyses by clevage the internal β -1,4-glycosidic linked of mannan backbone.^(65, 66) Generally, the range of the optimal temperature and pH of mannanase are 35-70 °C and 3.0-7.5 respectively. The molecular mass of mannanase ranges from 28-80 kDa.⁽⁶⁷⁾ The β -mannanases are classifed of depend on amino acid sequence into four groups of glycosyl hydrolase (GH) families were GH5, GH26, GH113 and GH134 based on CAZy.⁽⁶⁵⁾ Bacillus sp. SWU60 is bacteria that can produce mannanase enzyme, termed ManS2. The optimal pH and temperature are 6.0 and 60°C, respectively. Overexpression of *ManS2* gene in *Escherichia coli* BL21 resulting the recombinant enzyme mannanase (rManS2). This enzyme is an endo- β -1,4-mannanase use Konjac glucomannan as substrate and able to released galactomannan from locust bean gum which demonstrated that rManS2 have potential for glucomanno-and galactomanno-oligosaccharides production.⁽⁶⁸⁾

3.4 Degradation of Konjac glucomannan (KGM) by rManS2

The rManS2 is a recombinant enzyme of mannanase that showed the highest activity toward Konjac glucomannan (KGM). It can be hydrolyzed the linkages between mannose and glucose units same as those between mannose units. The main products of KGM degradation by mannanase are large amounts of oligosaccharides including glucosyl mannobiose, cellobiosyl mannobiose by HPAEC analysis (Fig. 11).⁽⁶⁸⁾ Therefore, it can be used in food industries especially for prebiotic production.



Figure 11. HPAEC analyses of substrate degraded by rManS2, (a) Linear mannan and (b) Konjac glucomannan (KGM), KGM-1, glucosyl mannobiose; KGM-2, cellobiosyl mannobiose.

Seesom et al. (2017). Purification, characterization, and overexpression of an endo-1,4- β -mannanase from thermotolerant *Bacillus* sp. SWU60 p.53.

4. Prebiotic

The prebiotic was dietary food that non-digestible by gastrointestinal system but digestible by selectively of microorganism (probiotics) in the gastrointestinal, and promoting health. It is the first idea of prebiotics definition from Glenn Gibson and Marcel Roberfroid in 1995 and unchanged for long time.⁽⁶⁹⁾ Then, the definition of prebiotics changed but it was still the same: that selectively elements in food which the specific changes of probiotics bacteria and promoting the host health.⁽⁷⁰⁾ Although, meaning of prebiotics have revised in the scientific literature for many time but the above-mentioned difinition can be accepted.⁽⁷¹⁾

According to this definition, prebiotics as a group of functional foods such as fructooligosaccharides (FOS), galactooligosaccharide (GOS), inulin that can be degraded by intestinal microorganism and related with human overall health (Fig. 12). The main of metabolic products like as short chain fatty acids (SCAFs) that are benefit to the body, especially the gastrointestinal system.⁽⁷²⁾

4.1 The basis for classification of prebiotic compounds

- Non-digestible by mammal enzymes
- Unable to be absorbed in a gastrointestinal system
- Can be degraded by probiotics
- The growth and/or activity of the gastrointestinal microflora (probiotics) be able to promoted host's health

4.2 Types of Prebiotics

4.2.1 Disaccharide

Generally, refers to disaccharide sugar alcohol including lactitol and xylitol which badly absorbed into the bloodstream from the small intestine, they have lower calories than sugars. So, they are reduced-calorie and small change in blood sugar in a diabetic diet.⁽⁷³⁾ Furthermore, synthetic disaccharide composed of galactose and glucose called "lactulose" as non-absorbable sugar found that used in the treatment of some disease (ex. constipation, hepatic encephalopathy).^(74, 75)

4.2.2 Oligosaccharide

This type is non-digestible oligosaccharide consists of fructooligosaccharide (FOS)⁽⁷⁶⁾, galactooligosaccharide (GOS)^(77, 78) and inulin. They are

commercialized as food ingredients. Previously, many studies showing about gut microbiota can ferment them and have benefits for human health in the process of balancing a disturbed colon microbiota, so inhibiting many undesirable diseases.⁽⁷⁹⁾

4.2.3 Resistant starch

There are carbohydrate that resistant to digested in the gut called as "resistant starch (RS)". RS occurs naturally in foods for example oats, grains, legumes, raw potato starch, firm bananas etc.⁽⁴⁹⁾ Intestinal microbiota can digested RS and increases the production of SCFAs able to improved the function of digestive system.^(80, 81)

4.2.4 Non-carbohydrate oligosaccharide

The some biological substances that are not classified as carbohydrates but classified as prebiotics, such as cocoa-derived flavonols.^(82, 83)



Soybean-oligosaccharide

Figure 12. Prebiotic origin. Adapted from Magalhaes et al.

Tzounis X et al. (2011). Prebiotic evaluation of cocoa-derived flavanols in healthy humans by using a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study.

4.3 Prebiotic effect on probiotics

Over the past of many years, the idea of probiotics defined from a variety of sources, including Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), International Life Science Institute (ILSI), European Food and Feed Cultures Association (EFFCA), and World Health Organization (WHO) which has the overall meaning that the consumption of living microbes in sufficient amounts will affect consumers' health benefits.⁽⁸⁴⁾

So, probiotics as live microorganisms need to provide advantage to the host via mode of metabolism in the gastrointestinal tract of host. An ideal characterization for probiotic organism showed in Figure 13.⁽⁸⁵⁾ The popularly used probiotic microorganisms are *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* sp. such as *B. adolescentis*⁽⁸⁶⁾, *B. bifidum*⁽⁸⁷⁾, *L. plantarum*^(88, 89), *L. casei*⁽⁽⁸⁵⁾ etc.

As described above, prebiotic can be degrade and/or ferment by probiotics. Products from fermentation used as energy source of probiotics activity for promote growth and produce beneficial products for host's health. The action together of probiotics and prebiotics are called "synbiotics".⁽⁹⁰⁾



Figure 13. Ideal for probiotic strain

Pandey KR et al. (2015). Probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics- a review.

4.4 Prebiotic effect on pathogens

Intestinal pathogens are infection caused by viruses, bacteria, or parasites that causes inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract (GI).⁽⁹¹⁾ The characteristic symptoms such as excessive, watery diarrhea, stomach pain, bloating, constipation, nausea and vomiting, swallowing problems, weight gain or loss etc.⁽⁹²⁾ Many microbiota have reported that gut pathogens include Adenovirus, Astrovirus, Campylobacter, *Clostridium* sp., *Escherichia coli*, *Helicobacter pylori*, Rotavirus, Norovirus, *Salmonella enterica*, *Staphylococcus aureus*. For example, pathogenic strains of *E. coli* can absorb a unique sugars of intestinal tract.⁽⁹³⁾ *Salmonella*-induced inflammation of intestine cause to the tetrathionate produced by intestinal epithelial cells.⁽⁹⁴⁾ Prebiotics have not effect on gut pathogens.⁽⁹⁵⁾ But, the combination of probiotics and prebiotics can be change intestinal environment which unsuitable for growth of pathogens. For example most of prebiotics products are acidic which can be reduce the intestinal tract pH.^(96, 97)

5. Application of prebiotics

In recent years, many research show beneficial of prebiotics for widely application. Especially, about prebiotics used for health benefits. Prebiotics plays role in intestinal health, that specific modified in complement and/or activity of gasrointestinal bacteria, leads to benefits on host health. The health outcome indicated that prebiotic consume may be able to decrease the inflammation or symptoms of intestinal included pathogens infection, prevent obesity, colon cancer, and increase absorption of minerals.⁽⁶⁹⁾

5.1 Infectious diarrhea

In 2006, Konikoff et al; found neutrophil in both plasma and stool in patients with bowel disease after comsume of mixture of FOS-inulin which confirmed that prebiotics can be induce pro-inflammatory immune.⁽⁹⁸⁾ The mixture of 2'-fucosyllactose and GOS/FOS have potential to prevent Rotavirus-induced darrhea in children.⁽⁹⁹⁾ GOS have effect to adapt the gastrointestinal bacteria and enhanced the growth of

bifidobacteria improvements in patients are chronic gastrointestinal disorder (IBS).⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ Probiotic may be helpful in relieving symptoms of inflammation.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ The galactooligosaccharide have potential for decrease the risk of diarrhea within 1 day and protection show after a week of treatment.⁽¹⁰²⁾

5.2 Immunomodulation

The mechanism about the benefits of prebiotics on the immune system response in the digestion system has unclear but some evidence that possibility:^(85, 103)

- Increasing of SCFAs product from prebiotic digested be able to control hepatic lipogenic enzymes production
- SCFAs production has been modulated of histone tail acetylation which increases genes expressed
- The fructooligosaccharides and some other prebiotics have shown increased white blood cell numbers
- Enhanced IgA secretion

Prebiotics may be improving immune function through by SCFAs production ex. acetate, propionate, butyrate.⁽¹⁰⁴⁾ In some study, SCFAs able to promoted natural killer cells function.⁽¹⁰⁵⁾

5.3 Lipid metabolism

Many studies reported that prebiotics enhance the hypocholesteromic activity which control levels of choresterol in the blood.^(106, 107) One study using inulin in hamsters result showed that 29% of total choresterol and 63% of triglycerides are decrease.⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ Chicory inulin can decreased serum triglycerides in humans with hyperchoresterolemia.⁽¹⁰⁹⁾ Other study demonstrated a 27% of triglycerides can decrease after using XOS in Sprague-Dawley rats.⁽¹¹⁰⁾

5.4 Other benefits

Typically, prebiotics as fibers have high energy and low fat which prevent the risk of overweight by improving satiety and weight.⁽¹¹¹⁾ In 2012, demonstrated that experimental study in mice between lean and obese groups about energy balance.⁽¹¹²⁾ Recent study showed that prebiotic have potential to enhanced of

satiety, and suppress of hunger feel.⁽¹¹³⁾ The macronutrients as Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , $Fe^{2+/3+}$, K^+ etc. are necessary for normal function of the body. Studies indicated that higher absorption of Ca^{2+} after fed rats treated inulin and FOS.⁽¹¹⁴⁾ GOS/FOS mixture can be increase Ca^{2+} , P^{3+} and Mg^{2+} absorptions in a model of growing rats.⁽¹¹⁵⁾



CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Materials

1.1 Microorganisms

Probiotic strains including *Lactobacillus plantarum* N25, *L. plantarum* TISTR 543, *L. casei* TISTR390 and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* TISTR2129 and pathogenic strains including *Escherichia coli* TISTR073, *Salmonella enterica* subs.*enterica* TISTR2519 and *Clostridium butyricum* TISTR1032 were purchased from Thailand Institute Scientific and Technological Research, Bangkok, Thailand.

Probiotic strains *L. plantarum* F33 and *B. adolescentis* JCM1275, pathogenic strains *Bacteroides vulgatus* JCM5826 and *C. hiranonis* JCM10541 were obtained from Graduate School of Life and Environmental Sciences, Osaka Prefecture University, Osaka, Japan.

1.2 Chemicals and reagents

The pCold-xynSW3 in *E. coli* DH5**Q** were prepared from gene of *Streptomyces* sp. SWU10⁽⁵⁴⁾. The pET32a-mans2 in *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) were prepared from gene of *Bacillus* sp. SWU60⁽⁷¹⁾. The HisTrap HP affinity chromatography column (5 mL) was obtained from GE Healthcare UK Ltd. (Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK). 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) was purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries Ltd. (Osaka, Japan).

1.3 Animal

Male mice (BALB/cAJcI) as model study, all mice ages 5 weeks was purchased from National Laboratory Animal Center, Mahidol University, Salaya, Nakhon Pathom, Thailand. At animal housing in Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot university, all the mice were checked to prepare for the test in the cage about one week before treatment. All mice were cage (two, three mice per housed) in the room with 20-25°C, and 12 h light/dark cycles.

2. Methods

2.1 Preparation and assay for prebiotic properties of xylooligosaccharide (XOS)

Flowchart for preparation and assay for prebiotic properties of XOS is shown in Figure 14.



Figure 14. Flowchart of xylooligosaccharide (XOS) study

••••••

2.1.1 Rice straw preparation

Rice straw of *Oryza sativa* were collected from north-eastern part of Thailand. The straw was cut into 2-3 cm and extensively rinsed with water, then autoclaved and dried in an incubator at 60°C overnight, then grind to powder with size about 3-8 mm. Rice straw powder (3.5 mg) was pretreatment by incubating in 100 ml of 0.1 M KOH at 70 °C for 3 h, then washed using trap water, dried at 60°C for 4 h. The pretreatment rice straw was weight and used as substrate for xylanase enzyme.

2.1.2 The preparation of rXynSW3 enzyme

The plasmid comprising xylanase gene, pCold-xynSW3, in host *E. coli* DH5 $\alpha^{(54)}$ in glycerol stock (10 µl) was pre-activated in 10 ml of LB medium containing

ampicillin (50 µg/ml). Then, 10% of pre-activated was cultured in LB broth containing ampicillin (50 µg/ml) at 37°C for 16 h. The 10 ml of activated culture was added in 1000 ml LB broth containing ampicillin at 37°C and shaking at 250 rpm for 1 h. After that, 1 mM isopropyl β -thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) added when the OD600 of the culture 0.5-0.6 nm, and continued incubation at 15 °C for 4 days. The cells were collected by centrifugation for 10 min at 5000 rpm, washed twice with 20mM KPB pH 6.0, dissolved the 1 g of pellet in 10 ml of 20mM KPB pH 6.0. The xylanase enzyme in the bacterial cell was extracted by sonication at 35% amplitude for 5 min then immediately on ice, repeated the steps in triplicate, the cell lysate was centrifuged for 10 min at 5000 rpm to collected the supernatant. The supernatant containing crude enzyme was further purified using His tagged bacterial protein purification kit in which the column had been equilibrated with 10 mM imidazole. Two milliliter of crude enzyme was added into the column incubated at 4oC for 45-60 min washed the unbound protein with 25 mM imidazole and eluted the enzyme that bound in column by using 5 column volume of 40 mM imidazone and passed the eluent through 30 kDa membrane centrifuge cut-off to get rid of imidazone. The purified enzyme was the dissolved in 20mM KPB pH 6.0.

2.1.3 Rice xylan degrading rXynSW3 and purification of XOS by charcoal column

One litter of pretreatment rice straw powder (2%) in 0.02 M KPB, pH 6.0 was incubation with rXynSW3 (7.8 U) at 45°C with shaking at 120 rpm for 24 h and boiled to inactive enzyme. Then, supernatant from enzyme degradation of rice straw (or hydrolysate) was filtrated through 0.45 µm membrane filter to get rid of the undigested rice straw. Then, the XOS in hydrolysate was purified by using activated charcoal column that had been equilibrated with 3 column volumes with double distilled water, the adsorbed XOS on charcoal was eluted by using 1-60% ethanol. Thereafter, the ethanol was removed by evaporation and freeze-dried. The purified XOS product was analyzed by using high performance anion exchange chromatography (HPAEC) with the conditions showed in Table 2.

Table 2. HPAEC condition for enzymatic products analysis.

Detection		Pulsed ampermetic detection
Injection volumn		10 µl
Column		CarboPac PA-1(4*250mm; Dionex)
Flow rate		1.0 ml/min
	0 - 5 min	0.1 M NaOH
	5 - 35 min	0.1 M NaOH, 0-0.45M sodium acetrate
Solvent	35 - 40 min	0.1 M NaOH, 0-0.45M sodium acetrate
	40 - 55 min	0.1 M NaOH

2.1.4 Determination of antioxidant activity by DPPH assay

Two groups of xylooligosaccharides was examined for antioxidant properties, XOS of pretreated rice straw and XOS combination with feruloylpolysaccharide of non-pretreated rice straw groups. The pretreated group was the XOS that purified by charcoal column, and the XOS with degree polymerization 2-5 were collected for analysis. The non-pretreated group was the XOS that only passed through 0.45 µm membrane which contained tiny amount of XOS and large amount of feruloylpolysaccharide. The solution of XOS of the pretreated groups was performed a serial dilution from 0 to 1000 µg of XOS in 1 ml of double distilled water, similarly the nonpretreated group was performed a serial dilution from 0 to 1000 µg of all products (XOS and feruloyl-polysaccharide) in 1 ml of double distilled water. One milliliter of each XOS solution was added into 1 ml of 0.1 mM DPPH solution (ratio 1:1), then incubated the solution at room temperature for 30 min in a dark. After that the absorbance of the solution was measured at a wavelength 517 nm using double distilled water with 0.1 mM DPPH as a blank. In addition, ascorbic acid was performed a serial dilution from 0 to 1000 µg in 1 ml double distilled water and was used as standard antioxidant. The experiment was done triplicate.
The measurement of the DPPH radical scavenging assay for the analytical sample at each concentration was performed by the IC_{50} calculation with ascorbic acid as a positive control and repeated in triplicate. The IC_{50} calculated equation was as followed; %Antioxidant activity = 1- (Abs of Sample / Abs of Blank) *100

2.1.5 Determination of reducing sugar in enzymatic products

The dinitrosalisylic acid (DNS) method used for the quantitative determination of reducing sugars in degradation products related to enzyme activity when the enzyme hydrolyse the bond between sugar molecules in backbone of polysaccharides and/or oligosaccharides.

This study the measurement of reducing sugar content in enzymatic products is widely used by in many researches because it is easy, fast, and safe. This method is a color measurement technique consisting of redox reactions between DNS and reducing sugar in samples which the reducing power come from carbonyl group (C=O). The redox reaction causing the DNS (yellow) when dissolved change to the 3-amino-5-nitrosalicylic acid (orange-brown) in an alkaline condition. The color intensity is proportional to the concentration of reducing sugars in the hydrolysate which measure by spectrophotometer at 570 nm. In addition, each type of reducing sugars at the same concentration affects the color of the reaction unequal. Therefore, it must have a standard graph of each type of sugar.

The sample analysis was performed by centrifugation the hydrolysate at 12,000 rpm for 5 minutes and pipetted 1 ml the clear portion mixed of DNS solution (ratio 1:1), then boil for 10 min, put in the ice immediately for 5 min, measured the absorbance at 570 nm (Table 3 and Fig.15).

Tube no.	mg/ml	Distilled water (μ l)	Final conc. (g/ml)
1	0	1000	0
2	50	950	50
3	100	900	100
4	200	800	200
5	300	700	300
6	400	600	400
7	500	500	500
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	0 50 100 200 300 400 500	1000 950 900 800 700 600 500	0 50 100 200 300 400 500

Table 3. Preparation of each xylose concentration.



Figure 15. Calibration curve of each xylose concentration at 570 nm by using dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) assay.

2.1.6 Prebiotic effect on probiotics

2.1.6.1 Preparation of microorganisms

One hundred microliter of each bacteria (probiotic and pathogen bacteria) in glycerol stock was added into 5 ml MRS broth, incubated at 37°C for 48 hours. These activate culture were streaked on plates and incubated at the conditions mentioned above, inoculated of single colony into 5 ml MRS broth for used as the initial stock for study.

2.1.6.2 Preparation culture for products of non-pretreatment rice straw tested

To study the prebiotic activity of the enzymatic products from nonpretreatment rice straw on probiotics, 50 μ L of overnight cultures of both probiotic strains, *L. plantarum* F33 and *B. adolescentis* JCM1275, and both pathogenic strains, *B. vulgatus* JCM5826 and *C. hiranonis* JCM10541, were cultivated added into 50 mL of MRS media (probiotic) and LB (pathogen) and incubated at 37°C for 12 h in an anaerobic condition. The growth and condition of culture media was assessed by determining the OD600 and pH values at 2 h intervals

2.1.6.3 Preparation culture for products of pretreatment rice straw tested

To study the prebiotic activity, culture media was basal medium [peptone 2.0 g, yeast extract 2.0 g, K_2HPO_4 0.04 g, KH_2PO_4 0.04 g, $MgSO_4$.7H2O 0.01 g, NaCl 0.1 g, Tween 80 0.5 g and L-cysteine HCl 0.5 g dissolved in 1 L of water, adjusted to pH 7.2] supplemented with xylooligosaccharide (with degree of polymerization range of 2 - 5 molecules) as a carbon source (final conc. 10 mg/ml). Then 50 µL of overnight cultures of all probiotic strains, *L. plantarum* TISTR 543, *L. casei* TISTR390 and *B. bifidum* TISTR2129, all pathogenic bacteria, *E. coli* TISTR073, *S. enterica* subs.*enterica* TISTR2519 and *C. butyricum*, were added into 5ml of culture media and cultivated anaerobically at 37°C for 48 h. Growth was assessed by determining the OD_{600} values at 0, 4, 8, 16, 24 and 48 h.

2.1.7 Safety test in vivo

-Toxicity study

For acute toxicity study, 20 male BALB/cAJcI mice were used for a study. All mice aged 5 weeks were detained to investigate abnormality and adaptation at the laboratory for 1 week (Animal housing, Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot university), with feeding formula 082G and drinking water all the time (Ab lib). The mice were divided into 3 experimental and 1 control groups, or 5 mice per group (n = 5). The concentration of the substance used in the experiment was referenced from the study data of lethal dose 50% (LD50) of fructooligosaccharide which is a substance that cannot digested by enzymes in the body as XOS. The previous toxicity studies found that the maximum tolerance dose (MTD) was 9,000 mg/kg per day.⁽¹¹⁶⁾ Therefore, this experiment was conducted by division the mice into 4 groups with different dose of XOS as follows,

Group 1 (Control): Double distilled water

Group 2 (Low dose): XOS 2000 mg/kg per day Group 3 (Mid dose): XOS 5000 mg/kg per day Group 4 (High dose): XOS 9000 mg/kg per day

Each group was administered by oral (gavage), once a day for 14 days. The solution was prepared by dissolving the xylooligosaccharide of each concentration (2000, 5000, 9000 mg/kg per day) with 0.5 ml double distilled water. All mice were observed the symptoms including sick or death of mice. At 15th day of the study, the mice were euthanized by isoflurane inhaled anesthesia and the blood was obtained from the coronary arteries. The parameters of hematology, and clinical chemistry for blood analysis are shown in table 4.

Parameters		Test	
	Hematocrit (Hct)		
	Hemoglobin (Hb)		
	Mean corpuscular he	emoglobin concentration	
	(MCHC)		
Hematology	Mean corpuscular he	emoglobin (MCH)	
	Mean corpuscular vo	blume (MCV)	
	Red blood cell distrik	oution width (RDW)	
	Platelet count		
rienacology	Red blood cell (RBC		
	White blood cell (WBC)		
	Neutrophil		
	Lymphocyte		
	Monocyte		
	Eosinophil		
	Basophil		
	Evaluation of	BUN	
	kidney function	Creatinine	
		Total protein	
Clinical chemistry	Evolution of liver		
	TUNCTION	Giopulin	
		A/G ratio	

Table 4. Parameters measured for hematology and clinical chemistry analysis.

2.1.8 Statistical analysis

The results were performed as mean \pm S.D. (S.E.) for at least three times experiments. Data were analyzed using SPSS for Windows (version 26.0).

2.2 Preparation and prebiotic properties assay of mannooligosaccharide (MOS)

Flowchart for preparation and prebiotic properties assay of MOS is shown in Figure 16.



Figure 16. Flowchart of mannooligosaccharide (MOS) study

2.2.1 Production and purification of $1,4-\beta$ -mannanase enzyme

The pET32a-manS2 constructed in *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) was inoculated into 10 ml of LB medium containing antibiotic (ampicillin, 50 µg/ml), incubated at 37° C with shaking at 220 rpm for 16 h. Then, added pre-culture into 1 L of LB medium containing ampicillin, and incubated in same conditions for 1.30 h or OD₆₀₀ between 0.6-0.8. After that, the gene expression was induced by using 100 ml IPTG (0.1 mM as final concentration) and continued incubation for 3 h. The pellet was harvested by centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 20 min, rinsed with 20 mM potassium phosphate, pH 6.0 for 2 times. Then, the enzyme was extracted from the cells by sonification. The mannanase activity was examined by using 0.02% AZCL-galactomannan, specific synthetic substrate, that dissolved in 20 mM KPB pH 6.0, then incubated at 60°C for 30 min. The solution with mannanase activity, after reaction the solution changed to blue color.

2.2.2 Preparation of glucomannan from Konjac and digestion with rManS2

Konjac was cleaned with water and peeled. After that, Konjac was slice and rinsed with distilled water. Then, dried in incubator at 60°C for 2-3 days or until absolutely dry. Then, grind to powder using blender and kept the Konjac powder in dry cabinet. The Konjac powder was dissolved in 0.02 M potassium phosphate buffer pH 6.0, the concentration 1.0 % and autoclave at 121°C for 15 min as substrate solution. Enzyme digestion was performed by using 1 L of 1% Konjac substrate solution, added rManS2 (7 U) and incubated at 40°C for 24 h. The reaction was stopped by boiling for 10 min and filtrated through 0.45 µm membrane filter.

2.2.3 Purification of mannooligosaccharides

- Purification of Konjac-oligosaccharide with activated charcoal column

Seven grams of activated charcoal was rinsed using 20% ethanol followed by 10% ethanol and then with distilled water for 3 times. Then, packed the activated charcoal into the column sized 3 cm diameter, equilibrated with distilled water 2-3fold of column volume with flow rate of 1 ml/min. Then, add the hydrolysate of enzyme digestion into the column and change the flow rate to 2 ml/min. After that, wash with distilled water, eluted with linear gradient of ethanol from 1% to 60%, and10 ml of eluent per fraction was collected. Total sugar content in each fraction was examined by using phenol-sulfuric acid method and the solution from positive fractions were combined. Then, the ethanol was removed by evaporation and the Konjacoligosaccharide was dried using freeze-dry

- Analysis for degree polymerization of Konjac-oligosaccharide

The degree polymerization of Konjac-oligosaccharide was examined by using thin layer chromatography (TLC) that separated the digested products by size when compared with standard sugar by using water: acetic acid: butanol at the ratio of 1:1:3 as a mobile phase. The standard sugar for comparison were mannose, mannobiose, mannotriose, and mannotetraose. The separated products on the TLC plate were detected by dipping the plate in the solution containing methanol and sulfuric (90:10), then air-dried and heat until the brown spots appeared on the TLC plate. The quantity and sugar composition of the enzymatic products were analyzed by using High Performance Anion Exchange Chromatography (HPAEC) with pulsed amperometric detection (PAD). The HPAEC condition was showed in Table 5.

Detection		Pulsed ampermetic detection
Injection volumn		10 µl
Column		CarboPac PA-1(4*250mm; Dionex)
Flow rate		1.0 ml/min
	0 - 5 min	0.1M NaOH
	5 - 35 min	0.1M NaOH, 0-0.45M sodium acetrate
Solvent	35 - 40 min	0.1M NaOH, 0-0.45M sodium acetrate
	40 - 55 min	0.1M NaOH

Table 5. HPAEC condition of enzymatic products analysis.

2.2.4 Assay of antioxidant activity by DPPH assay

Mannooligosaccharide sample was performed a serial dilution from 0 to 1000 µg of MOS in 1 ml double distilled-water. Thereafter, the 0.2 mL of each dilution of mannooligosaccharide sample was mixed with 0.8 ml of 100 mM Tris-HCI (pH7.4) in test tube and then 1 ml of the DPPH solution was added, immediately mixed with a vortex for 10 s and left at room temperature for 30 min in the dark. After 30 min, the absorbance of each solution was measured at 517 nm. A mixture of ethanol (1.2 ml) and 100 mM Tris-HCI, pH 7.4 (0.8 ml) was used as the blank.

The measurement of the DPPH radical scavenging assay for the mannooligosaccharide sample at each concentration was performed by calculated the IC_{50} using equation when ascorbic acid was used as a positive control and the experiment was carried out triplicate.

2.2.5 Study of prebiotic properties in vitro

2.2.5.1 Preparation of culture media

The media used to study of SCFAs production and growth promotion of probiotics was basal medium. The 1 L of basal medium was prepared from peptone (2.0 g), yeast extract (2.0 g), K_2HPO_4 (0.04 g), KH_2PO_4 (0.04 g), $MgSO_4.7 H_2O$ (0.01 g), NaCl (0.1 g), Tween 80 (0.5 g), and L-cysteine HCl (0.5 g), adjusted to pH 7.2 and added MOS (concentration is 10 mg/ml) or FOS (concentration is 10 mg/ml) as carbon source, then autoclave at 121°C for 15 min.

2.2.5.2 Preparation of probiotics

The probiotics used was *L. plantarum* N25, 50 μ l of glycerol stock was activated in 5 ml MRS broth in an anaerobic condition at 37 °C for 48 h. Then, the seedling culture of probiotic bacteria was prepared by culture in the MRS broth at the same conditions for 24 h, then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 min to eliminate culture media. The bacteria cells were washed and adjusted volume by adding 0.85 % NaCl to obtain 1 OD of absorbance at 600 nm.

2.2.5.3 Study of the promotion of probiotics growth in vitro

One milliliter of seedling cultured from 2.2.5.2 was transferred to 5 ml of culture medium to obtain the starter culture of probiotic at 0.2 OD, then incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. The culture was sampling at 0, 6, 12, 24 h, and measured OD at 600 nm to compare the growth of probiotic. The supernatant at 0, 24, 48 h of culture were analyzed for SCAFs production by using HPLC.

2.2.5.4 Production of short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) in vitro

The culture of probiotic at 0, 24, 48 h were collected for analysis of SCAFs including acetic, propionic, butyric and lactic acid. The culture was centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 5 min, the supernatant was filtrates through 0.22 µm paper filter. The analysis of SCAFs was achieved by high performance liquid chromatography, using a

300*8.0 mm Shodex SUGAR SH1011 column (Showa denko, Tokyo, Japan) and used 5 mM H_2SO_4 as eluent solvent (1 ml/min as flow rate).

2.2.6 Properties of prebiotic in animal experiment

In this study, 20 male BALB/cAJcI mice were used in the experiment. All mice aged 5 weeks were detained to investigate abnormality and adaptation at the laboratory (Animal housing, Faculty of Medicine, Srinakharinwirot university) for 1 week, with feeding formula 082G and drinking water all the time (Ab lib). The 20 mice were divided into 3 experimental and 1 control groups, or 5 mice per group (n = 5) follows,

Group 1 (Control): PBS buffer pH 7.0
Group 2 (Prebiotic): Mannooligosaccharide in PBS pH 7.0
Group 3 (Probiotic): *L. plantarum* N25 in PBS pH 7.0
Group 4 (Synbiotic): *L. plantarum* N25 and Mannooligosaccharide

in PBS pH 7.0

Each group treated by oral gavage administration, once a day for 14 days. The MOS solution was prepared for feeding dose at 1000 mg/kg per day, and *L. plantarum* N25 was prepared at 10^8 - 10^9 cells or the OD₆₀₀ range 0.8-1.0 and dissolved in phosphate pH 7.2. The volume that mice can accept was 0.5 ml. All experiments were based on the National Research Council Guidelines of Laboratory Animals.⁽¹²³⁾ All mice were observed the symptoms including body weight and death of mice and they were euthanasia on 15^{th} day using isoflurane and feces was collected from the caecum for analysis of SCFAs production and the number of probiotics *in vivo*.

2.2.6.1 The study of the increase of probiotics in experimental animals

The feces from the caecum (0.1 g) were diluted from 10^{-1} to 10^{-3} by using PBS buffer pH 7.2. Then, 0.1 ml of diluted samples were spreaded on MRS plates, and incubated at 37 °C for 48 h. Each dilution was performed triplicate.

2.2.6.2 Extraction for analyzed of SCAFs production from feces

The experiment was performed by adding 0.5 mM H_2SO_4 into feces sample with ratio of 2 ml:5 mg. Then, mixed solution by using pipette and sonicated for 30 sec, and centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 20 min. After that filtrated through 0.22 mm paper filter and the supernatant was used for analysis of SCFAs included acetate, propionate, lactate and butyrate products by using HPLC.

2.2.7 Statistical analysis

The results were performed as mean \pm S.D. (S.E.) for at least three times experiments. Data were analyzed using SPSS for Windows (version 26.0). Differences were considered significant at P<0.001.



CHAPTER IV RESULTS

Part 1: Xylooligosaccharide (XOS)

Degradation of rice xylan by rXynSW3

HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products of non-pretreatment rice straw after digestion by rXynSW3 for 24 h showed that there was small amount of xylooligosaccharides (Fig. 17A). However, analysis found that the product contained ferulic acid indicated that they are feruloyl-polysaccharides (Fig. 17B). The enzymatic products of alkaline-pretreatment rice straw after degradation by rXynSW3 for 24 h showed that the products were xylooligosaccharides included xylobiose, xylotriose, xylotetraose, and xylopentose (Fig. 17C).







Figure 17. HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products (A) non-pretreatment rice straw with rXynSW3 for 24 h and (B) HPLC analyzed of the enzymatic product from non-pretreatment rice straw (C) HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products from alkaline-pretreatment rice straw with rXynSW3 for 24 h. The standard xylose and xylooligosaccharides are X1, X2, X3, X4; xylose, xylobiose, xylotriose, and xylotetraose,

respectively.

Antioxidant property of xylooligosaccharides

The results showed that the IC₅₀ values of non-pretreated and alkalinepretreated rice straw was 611.10 \pm 0.52 µg/ml and 542.27 \pm 0.59 µg/ml, respectively, whereas the antioxidant activity of the standard ascorbic was a 494.72 \pm 0.15 µg/ml (Fig. 18).





Prebiotic effect of enzymatic products on probiotics -Non-pretreated rice straw on probiotics

After incubation of the enzymatic products from non-pretreated rice straw which contained majority of feruloyl-polysaccharides and tiny amount of XOS with probiotics and pathogenic bacteria including *L. plantarum* F33, *B. adolescentis* JCM1275, *B. vulgatus* JCM5826, and *C. hiranonis* JCM10541, the results showed that the enzymatic products promoted growth of *L. plantarum* F33 (Fig. 19 A) and *B. adolescentis* JCM1275 (Fig. 19 C) and lowered the pH values of the culture media of both probiotic strains (Fig. 19 B, D, respectively). However, the enzymatic products have no affect on growth rate and pH values of pathogenic bacteria comprising *B. vulgatus* JCM5826 (Fig. 20 A, B) and *C. hiranonis* JCM10541 (Fig. 20 C, D).



Figure 19. Growth curve of probiotics and pH values of MRS media with the enzymatic products from non- pretreated rice straw; *L. plantarum* F33 (A, B), and *B. adolescentis* JCM1275 (C, D), the MRS medium without enzymatic products was used as negative control.



Figure 20. Growth curve of pathogens and pH values of MRS media with the enzymatic products of nonpretreated rice straw; *B. vulgatus JCM5826* (A, B), and *C. hiranonis* JCM10541 (C, D), the MRS medium without enzymatic products was used as negative control.

-Alkaline-pretreated rice straw on probiotics

The XOS products with degree polymerization 2-5 from degradation of pretreated-rice straw with rXynSW3 were incubated with probiotic including *L. plantarum* TISTR543, *L. casei* TISTR390, *B. bifidum* TISTR2129, and pathogenic bacteria comprising *E. coli* TISTR073, *S. enterica* subs. enterica TISTR2519, *and C. typhimurium* TISTR1032. The results showed that the XOS promoted growth of all probiotic strains (Fig. 21 A, B, C) but have no affect on growth of all pathogenic strains (Fig. 22 A, B, C).



Figure 21. Effect of XOS on probiotics (A) Growth curve of *L. plantarum* TISTR543,(B) Growth curve of *L. casei* TISTR390, and (C) Growth curve of *B. bifidum* TISTR2129, the basal medium without XOS sample was used as control.



Figure 22. Effect of XOS on pathogenic bacteria (A) Growth curve of *E. coli* TISTR073, (B) Growth curve of *S. enterica* subs.*enterica* TISTR2519, and (C) Growth curve of *C. typhimurium* TISTR1032, the basal medium without XOS sample was used as control.

In vivo testing for safety of the XOS from pretreated-rice straw

-Body weight of experimental mice

In the safety experiment, the mice in each group consumed XOS samples with the following dose; 2000, 5000, and 9000 mg/kg per day by oral administration. The mean body weight values of mice are shown in Table 6 and growth curves of mice from 0 to 14 days of experiment are presented in Figure 23. The results demonstrated that all doses of XOS were unaffected on body weight of mice compared with the control group.

1:8/+		Days	
Group	0	7	14
Control (double-distilled water)	24.58 ± 1.11	27.19 ± 2.00	27.91 ± 1.24
Low dose (2000 mg/kg per day)	24.56 ± 0.89	27.85 ± 0.84	28.07 ± 1.23
Mid dose (5000 mg/kg per day)	24.32 ± 0.69	27.25 ± 0.77	27.41 ± 0.96
High dose (9000 mg/kg per day)	24.20 ± 0.96	27.54 ± 2.09	27.86 ± 1.68

Table 6. Mean of body weight (g) values of mice treated with the XOS from rice straw.

*Mean of body weight (g) = mean \pm S.D.

**Experiments were performed in triplicate.



Figure 23. Growth curve of mice daily feeding with XOS (mgXOS/kg per day); control (double-distilled water), low dose (2000) , mid dose (5000), and high dose (9000) group. XOS: xylooligosaccharide.



-Blood testing

The mean value of each parameter of mice blood from hematological and clinical chemistry test are demonstrated in Table 7. The results showed that micetreated high dose group showed normal of test-related effects on hematology and clinical chemistry values in both the kidney and liver during the experimental period compared to the control group.

Group		Control	High dose	
			0	9000
	Dose mg XOS/kg	per day		
			5	5
	N			
	Hematocrit, Hct (g/dl)		52.50 ± 2.12	51.83 ± 1.94
	Hemoglobin, Hbg (%)		15.45 ± 0.21	15.00 ± 0.68
	Mean corpuscular hem	noglobin concentration,		
	MCHC (g/dl)		29.60 ± 0.71	30.13 ± 0.69
	Mean corpuscular hem	noglobin, MCH (pg)	15.35 ± 0.21	13.12 ± 0.60
	Mean corpuscular volu	ime, MCV (fl)	52.30 ± 0.14	51.17 ± 0.33
Hematology	Red blood cell distribu	tion width, RDW (%)	19.60 ± 0.00	19.25 ± 0.54
	Platelet count		104.25 ± 0.01	101.83 ± 0.51
	Red blood cell, RBC		10.07 ± 0.29	99.70 ± 0.39
	White blood cell, WBC		4.55 ± 0.09	3.30 ± 0.48
	Neutrophil (%)		13.50 ± 0.54	12.33 ± 0.94
	Lymphocyte (%)		85.00 ± 2.83	84.67 ± 0.44
	Monocyte (%)		1.50 ± 0.71	1.83 ± 0.75
	Eosinophil (%)		0.00	1.17 ± 0.98
	Basophil (%)		0.00	0.00
	Evaluation of kidney	BUN (mg/dl)	19.5 ± 0.71	20.11 ± 0.75
Clinical	function	Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.22 ± 0.10	0.19 ± 0.02
ohomiotri				
chemistry		Total protein (g/dl)	4.95 ± 0.07	4.68 ± 0.15
	Evaluation of liver	Albumin (g/dl)	3.15 ± 0.07	3.12 ± 0.18
	function	Globulin (g/dl)	1.80 ± 0.14	1.54 ± 0.18
		A/G ratio	1.75 ± 0.13	2.03 ± 0.33

Table 7. Mean values of hematology and clinical chemistry.

* Clinical chemistry values = mean \pm S.D.

**Experiments were performed in triplicate.

Part 2: Mannooligosaccharide (MOS)

MOS preparation from Konjac degrading by rManS2 enzyme

Figure 24A showed the enzymatic products of Konjac with rManS2 at 0 h and 24 h analyzed by using HPAEC. The MOS products from Konjac at 24 h of degradation were mannose, mannobiose, mannotriose, mannotetraose, and mannopentose gluco-mannotetraose in which mannobiose was the highest amount, follow by gluco-mannotetraose (Fig. 24B and Table 8).



Figure 24. HPAEC analysis of enzymatic products (A) 1%Konjac with rManS2 at 0, 24 h and (B) 1%Konjac with rManS2 at 24 h. M1, M2, M3, M4, and M5; mannose, mannobiose, mannotriose, mannotetraose, and mannopentose, respectively.

Products	(%) Yield of product
Mannose	4.32
Mannobiose	32.01
Mannotriose	17.70
Mannotetraose	7.50
Gluco-mannotetraose	25.63
Mannopentose	12.84
Total MOS from Konjac	100

Table 8. Percent yield of MOS from degradation Konjac by rManS2 enzyme.

Assay of antioxidant activity by DPPH method

DPPH radical scavenging assay of MOS products from Konjac degradation found that the IC₅₀ of MOS was 643.06 ± 0.05 µg/ml whereas the antioxidant activity of the standard ascorbic was a 494.72 ± 0.15 µg/ml. $*IC_{50}$ value is the concentration causing 50% free radical inhibition (Fig. 25).



Figure 25. Percent scavenging by DPPH assay; (
) MOS from Konjac, and

(Ascorbic acid.

Prebiotic effect of MOS from Konjac on probiotics

After investigating the prebiotic efficiency of MOS from Konjac on *L. plantarum* N25 by focusing on the growth-promoting. The results showed that the growth of *L. plantarum* N25 in basal medium with MOS significantly higher than basal medium without MOS (P<0.001). However, it was significantly lower than the basal medium with FOS (P<0.001), which indicated that the MOS can promote the growth of *L. plantarum* N25 but lower than FOS (Fig. 26).



Figure 26. Growth curve of *L. plantarum* N25 at 0 to 24 h after incubation with various carbon sources in basal medium; (■) No carbon source as control, (▲) MOS as carbon source, and (●)FOS as carbon source. Data are shown in mean ± SD analyzed by Two-way ANOVA.

Detection of SCFAs in vitro of MOS tested

The results of SCFAs production *in vitro* showed that when *L. plantarum* N25 used MOS as a carbon source. The fermented product was acetic acid which increased to 2.6- and 4.8-folds at 24 h and 48 h, respectively. It also found that

L. plantarum N25 that used MOS as carbon source cannot produce propionic and butyric acid. In addition, the amount of lactic acid was reduced while the amount of acetic acid increased inferred that lactic acid was used as the primary product for synthesis acetic acid as secondary product (Fig. 27). Furthermore, it was found that *L. plantarum* N25 that used MOS as carbon source did not produce propionic and butyric acid *in vitro* (Table 9).



Figure 27. The graph of SCFAs concentration after incubation MOS from Konjac with *L. plantarum* N25 *in vitro*.



Table 9. The SCFAs products concentration *in vitro* after incubation MOS from Konjac with *L. plantarum* N25.

Timo	Concentration (mM)				
Time	Lactic acid	Acetic acid	Propionic acid	Butyric acid	
0 h	5.96	1.56	0	0	
24 h	5.15	4.01	0	0	
48 h	3.37	7.53	0	0	

Properties of prebiotic in animal experiment

To study properties of prebiotic, oral gavage administration of sample in mice was performed by measuring the body weight of control, prebiotic, probiotic, and symbiotic groups on 15^{th} day. The mean of body weight and growth curves are presented in Table 10 and Fig. 28, respectively. The results indicated that the body weights of mice from prebiotic, probiotic, and symbiotic were significantly unaffected at all the doses of MOS-treated when compared to the control group (*P*<0.001).

Table 10. Mean of	body weights ((g) values of	mice treated with	ו MOS from Kon	jac.
-------------------	----------------	---------------	-------------------	----------------	------

Group		Days	
	0	7	14
Control	22.91 ± 0.51	25.53 ± 2.00	27.41 ± 0.74
Prebiotic	22.90 ± 0.39	26.52 ± 0.91	27.74 ± 0.67
Probiotic	23.32 ± 0.34	26.92 ± 0.48	27.41 ± 0.96
Synbiotic	23.04 ± 0.51	26.37 ± 0.89	27.53 ± 1.24
*Mean of b	ody weight (g) = mean \pm S.D.	All and a second second	

*Experiments were performed in triplicate.





Figure 28. Graph showed growth curve each mice group.

The study of the increase of probiotics in experimental animals

The results from plate count of *L. plantarum* N25 from the initial amount of 0.1 grams of feces sample. The synbiotic group showed the highest number of *L. plantarum* N25 which significantly different from results of the probiotic and control groups (P<0.001). Therefore, MOS has an ability to stimulated the growth of probiotic strain, *L. plantarum* N25 *in vivo* (Table 11 and Fig. 29).

Table 11. Mean of number of *L. plantarum* N25 from 100 mg feces sample by plate count method.

as mean ± S.D

CFU × 10 ² / 100 mg of feces					
Ν	1	2	3	4	5
Control	05	0.64	0	0	0
Prebiotic	0	0	0	0	0
Probiotic	15.00 ± 4.00	10.67 ± 4.51	5.00 ± 3.00	13.00 ± 2.00	8.33 ± 9.45
Synbiotic	22.00 ± 5.57	17.00 ± 9.00	20.33 ± 8.08	14.00 ± 2.00	19.00 ± 8.00



Figure 29. The number of *L. plantarum* N25 per 100 mg of feces sample from each mice group including control, prebiotic, probiotic, and symbiotic groups. The statistics used in these tests were mean ± SD, and One-way ANOVA for the comparison between groups.

The analysis of SCFAs in feces in MOS-treated mice

The results of SCFAs analysis from the supernatant obtained from feces extraction from each mice group found four SCFAs including lactate, acetate, propionate and butyrate. The concentration of acetate and total SCFAs of synbiotic group were significant higher than the control group (P<0.001) (Fig. 30). The results also revealed that the increasing of acetic acid concentration had no effect on the concentration of lactic acid when compared with control of all mice groups (Table 12).

SCFAs (mM)		Gran Gr	oup	
	Control	Probiotic	Prebiotic	Synbiotic
Lactic acid	2.73 ± 0.44	2.76 ± 0.35	3.09 ± 0.47	1.85 ± 0.28
Acetic acid	10.33 ± 1.32	9.57 ± 0.93	8.28 ± 1.41	18.60 ± 0.44
Propionic acid	1.81 ± 0.35	1.62 ± 0.26	1.59 ± 0.36	3.57 ± 1.21
Butyric acid	4.12 ± 0.46	4.14 ± 1.20	2.67 ± 0.69	4.22 ± 1.31
Total	18.99 ± 3.33	18.29 ± 3.05	15.63 ± 2.58	28.24 ± 6.72
*Data as mean + S	D.			

Table 12. The concentration of SCFAs production found in each mice group.



Figure 30. Concentration of short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) production in each mice group. The statistics used for the analysis were mean ± SD, compared between groups using Two-way ANOVA.

CHAPTER V

Discussion

Part 1: Xylooligosaccharide (XOS)

Rice xylan degrading by rXynSW3 enzyme

The recombinant enzyme rXynSW3 was xylanase of *Streptomyces* sp. SWU10 constructed in bacteria derived from previous studied by Sukhumsirichart et al.⁽⁵⁴⁾ Its molecular weight was 48 kDa with the optimum pH and temperature of 6.0 and 50°C, respectively. In this study, the rXynSW3 was used to degrade alkaline-pretreated rice straw at 45°C for 24 h and the main products were xylooligosaccharides (XOS) including xylobiose, xylotriose, xylotetraose, and small amount of xylopentose. In contrast, the rXynSW3 degraded non-pretreatment rice straw in same conditions yielding a tiny amount of XOS, the major product was feruloyl-polysaccharides. Normally, the structure of rice xylan contains a higher substitute, which less activity of enzyme degradation with complex structure of substrate.⁽¹¹⁷⁾ Therefore, pretreated rice straw with alkaline methods are needed before degradation with xylanase enzyme in order to get high yield of XOS. The advantages of alkaline-pretreatment rice straw were changed or eliminated the component in structure of rice straw, then enhance the enzymatic degradation and increase yield of products which this process is an easy and cost-effective method.

Assay of antioxidant activity of XOS from rice straw

In this study, the DPPH method was used for measurement free radical scavenging property of XOS from 2 rice straw samples including XOS from pretreatment rice straw, and XOS and feruloyl-polysaccharide from non-pretreatment rice straw. This method is the most widely used by various researches as it is easy and provides standardized results *in vitro*. The results of DPPH assay is shown in terms of the IC₅₀. The IC₅₀ means that concentration of compound required to inhibit 50% of free radicals *in vitro* calculated following formula: A% = % inhibition = $[1-(A_0-A_t)/A_0-A_t)]\times 100$, where A_0 and A_t were the optical density at time zero of sample and the control, respectively,

whereas A_{0} and A_{t} were the optical density of the sample and the control at 30 minutes, respectively. Normally, the lowest value of IC₅₀ correlated to the highest antioxidant activity. Ascorbic acid as standard substance for comparison.⁽¹¹⁸⁾ This study, the IC₅₀ of the composition between XOS (tiny) and feruloyl-polysaccharide (major product) from non-pretreated products rice straw was 611.10 ± 0.52 µg/ml and XOS (X2-X5) from pretreated rice straw was 542.27 ± 0.59 µg/ml, while the IC₅₀ of ascorbic acid was 494.89 ± 0.16 µg/ml. The antioxidant activity of oligosaccharides derived from a hydroxyl group (R-OH) of monosaccharide sugar in the structure and xylose is a classified in aldopentose type.⁽¹¹⁹⁾ It can be seen that the XOS from pretreatment rice straw have ability to be antioxidant as well as the ascorbic acid because they have a high antioxidant value of 90% compared to the percent of antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid. For these results demonstrated that, the XOS product from alkaline-pretreatment rice straw can be taken advantage for preparation of functional foods.

Prebiotic effect of XOS from rice straw on probiotics

For prebiotic effect of XOS and feruloyl-polysaccharides products from nonpretreatment rice straw by rXynSW3 showed that the enzymatic products promoted growth of probiotics both *L. plantarum* F33 and *B. adolescentis* JCM1275 and have no affect on growth rate and pH values of pathogenic bacteria including *B. vulgatus* JCM5826 and *C. hiranonis* JCM10541. The results of this study are in the same direction as the results of prebiotic effect of XOS from pretreatment rice straw by rXynSW3. The *L. plantarum* TISTR543, *L. casei* TISTR390, and *B. bifidum* TISTR2129 are probiotics strains in gastrointestinal tract that are beneficial to host's health both produced vitamin or energy source of host and reduce the inflammation, symptoms, and can also prevent diseases of intestinal pathogens infection including *E. coli* TISTR073, *S. enterica* TISTR2519, *C. typhimurium* TISTR1032 etc.⁽¹²⁰⁾ According to this study, it was found that the XOS product from pretreatment rice straw can promote the growth of the probiotics. The prebiotic is effective in enhancing growth of probiotic of specific strain, for example, some prebiotic promote growth of *Bifidobacterium* sp. better than *Lactobacillus* sp.⁽¹²¹⁾ In this study, the XOS products can be stimulated both strains (*Bifidobacterium* sp. and *Lactobacillus* sp.) and have no effect in stimulating the growth of intestinal pathogens. In addition, some prebiotics can be able to prevented or inhibited growth of pathogenic strains, such as competition with pathogens to adhesion host cell.⁽¹²²⁾ Furthermore, fermentation of *Bifidobacterium* sp. or *Lactobacillus* sp. can produce great amount of acidic organic compounds for example formic, lactic, acetic, propionic, and butyric acid etc.⁽¹²³⁾ Thus, the pH values of environment have reduced to acidic pH and unsuitable for pathogens growth.⁽¹²⁴⁾

Safety of XOS by in vivo study

The toxicity study performed by oral gavage to mice for 15 days. The doses of XOS tested mice groups were 0, 2000, 5000, and 9000 mg.XOS/kg per day for control, low dose, mid dose, and high dose of mice groups, respectively. These results of body weight and growth curve of mice showed that the XOS-treatment have no affected on weight and growth of all mice groups for all doses tests. There were no mice deaths or abnormal during start until the end the experiment with a total of 15-days. In previous study, the body weight changed when mice treated with 9000 mg/kg per day with fructooligosaccharide (FOS).⁽¹²⁵⁾

All mice groups showed normal of test-related effects on hematology and clinical chemistry values both in the kidney and liver throughout the study. The BUN and creatinine are nitrogenous end products of metabolism and evaluated functional of the kidney. The normal range of BUN and creatinine in human are 10-20 and 0.6-1.2 mg/dl, respectively.⁽¹²⁶⁾ A total protein included albumin and globulin in blood tested are evaluated functional of the liver. The normal range of total protein, albumin, and globulin are 6.0-8.0, 3.0-5.0, and 2.0-3.5 (g/dl), respectively.⁽¹²⁷⁾ The results showed that high dose group and control group mice-tested compared to standard, indicated that these mice were normal function of both kidney and liver of mice tested.

Part 2: Mannooligosaccharide (MOS)

Konjac degrading by rManS2 enzyme

In previous study, the recombinant enzyme rManS2 of *Bacillus* sp. SWU60 was constructed in bacteria by Seesom et al.⁽⁶⁸⁾ Its molecular weight was 38 kDa. The optimal temperature and pH were 60°C and 6.0, respectively. This study, Konjac mannan was used as substrate for rManS2 digestion at 45°C for 24 h. The main products were mannooligosaccharides (MOS) included mannobiose, gluco-mannotetraose, mannotriose, mannopentose, and mannotetraose. In general, the structure of Konjac mannan consisting residues of glucose and mannose molecules linked by β -1,4-glycosidic bonds. The rManS2 is an endo-mannanase enzyme that random digest within the backbone structure of the mannan polysaccharides and generate the products with different sizes of structures.⁽¹²⁸⁾

Assay of antioxidant activity of MOS from Konjac mannan

One interesting prebiotic properties of the substance is the ability to be antioxidant. This study used DPPH assay method for evaluation antioxidant activity of MOS, the enzymatic products from Konjac mannan. The result showed that the MOS have an antioxidant property compared to ascorbic acid which used as standard when the result displayed in the form of an IC₅₀ value. This value is inversely proportional to the free radical scavenging activity or antioxidant property of sample tested *in vitro*. The IC₅₀ of MOS and ascorbic acid were 643.06 ± 0.05 and 494.89 ± 0.16 µg/ml, respectively. Normally, the lowest IC₅₀ corresponds to the highest of DPPH scavenging activity.⁽¹²⁹⁾ Although the value of antioxidants of MOS was less than the standard, but the MOS has an antioxidant value up to 70% compared with ascorbic acid.

Prebiotic effect of MOS from Konjac mannan on probiotics

The prebiotic properties of MOS products from Konjac mannan were tested by cultivating the MOS with probiotic strain *L. plantarum* N25 and the results indicated that the MOS from Konjac mannan was a suitable carbon source for promoting the growth of *L. plantarum* N25 *in vitro* when compared to the control. But, its was slightly promoted the growth of probiotic when compared with fructooligosaccharides (FOS). Although, MOS can be stimulated growth of *L. plantarum* N25 less than FOS but it had reported that MOS has considered one of the important qualities of a prebiotic substance that promotes growth of probiotics.⁽¹³⁰⁾ Ability of prebiotic to stimulate the growth of probiotics are different, because of the different prebiotic structures and/or specificity of each probiotic species. In addition, there are a few research studies reported about the prebiotic properties of MOS for example MOS from copra meal.⁽¹³¹⁾ Therefore, the results of this study informed that MOS from Konjac can be produced as prebiotics which is a natural sources.

Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) detected in vitro of MOS tested

This results about prebiotic effect on probiotics, the MOS from Konjac mannan can be promoted the growth of L. plantarum N25 in vitro. It can be seen that the MOS had some prebiotic properties. Therefore, the production of SCFAs in vitro was investigated by using supernatant of cultured media to detect SCFAs products including lactic, acetic, propionic, and butyric acids by HPLC. The amount of acetic acid was significant increased after incubation at 24 h and 48 h whereas, the propionate and butyrate cannot detect. Furthermore, the amount of lactic acid decreased while the amount of acetic acid increased. It can be explained that lactic acid was used as the primary product for synthesis acetic acid as secondary product in the fermentation process of the lactic acid bacteria (LAB).⁽¹³²⁾ The propionic acid and butyric acid were not detected at cultured media both incubated at 24 h and 48 h. This may be due to the limitations of each strain in which different types of SCFAs are produced in vitro and the type of prebiotics that have different effects on probiotics. For example, B. bifidum and L. gasseri can express propionic acid in significant amount but not produce butyric acid, Bifidobacterium sp. can be produced butyrate from inulin whereas produced acetate and lactate from FOS $.^{^{(133,\ 134)}}$

Properties of MOS as prebiotic in experiment mice

To study properties of prebiotic *in vivo*, oral gavage administration of samples to mice for a period of 15 days. All mice groups including control, prebiotic, probiotic, and synbiotic groups were weighted on 15th day of study. It was found that the body weights all mice groups were unaffected by MOS supplement in the food compared to control group. Furthermore, they were not any symptoms and no deaths

during the experiment period. Therefore, it indicated that MOS from Konjac mannan at dose-tested is considered as a safe prebiotic in mice.

The increasing of probiotics *in vivo* was performed by plate count method for evaluate amount of *L. plantarum* N25 from mice feces. The study demonstrated that, the increased amount of *L. plantarum* N25 in synbiotic group (probiotic and prebiotic) was higher than the probiotic group which treated mice with *L. plantarum* N25 in the same amount. Therefore, it can be seen MOS product from Konjac mannan has prebiotic property to promoted growth of probiotic *in vivo*.

The SCFAs production in vivo was detected from feces of micetested by HPLC. The SCFAs products included acetate, lactate, propionate, and butyrate whereas, propionate and butyrate didnot detect by in vitro study. This may be due to the limited of growth conditions of probiotics such as carbohydrate sources and different environment compared to in vivo.⁽¹³⁵⁾ In animal model, the synbiotic group (L. plantarum N25 and MOS) produced higher amount of SCFAs, such as acetic acid and propionic acid, and total SCFAs which differed from the mice-control group while the concentration of lactate and butyrate were similarity of all mice groups. In addition, the amount of SCFAs such as acetic, lactic, propionic, and butyric acids were different from in vitro because butyric acid and propionic acid were found in vivo, which may be due to in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of mammalian composition of the several gastrointestinal microflora. Normally, SCFAs are obtained from bacteria fermentation. In this study, MOS was fermented by anaerobic pathway of probiotic bacteria. In the case of MOS hydrolysis, the bacteria producing SCFAs through the anaerobic glycolysis, also known as lactic acid system.⁽¹³⁶⁾ Generally, the bacteria produce acetic, propionic and butyric acid released at a ratio of 60:20:20. These products are a source of energy for the metabolism in the body. In addition, it was found that the SCFAs have also been shown to provide other benefits for health such as a protective barrier to protect the intestines from attaching and growing of pathogens, change gut environment to acidic that unsuitable for the growth of pathogens etc.⁽¹³⁷⁾ Especially, the butyric acid is an important source of energy for the colonocytes which has a positive effect on preventing gastrointestinal disorders, reducing the risk of inflammation bowel disease, or prevent the occurrence of certain cancers such as colon cancer.⁽¹³⁸⁾ Therefore, it can be seen that SCFAs are useful and necessary for health to maintain a good balance of the body.⁽¹³⁹⁾

All of the results in this study showed that XOS from xylan of pretreatment rice straw and MOS from Konjac mannan have ability to be antioxidants *in vitro*. They also have prebiotic properties which can be stimulated the growth of all the probiotic strains used in this study. Furthermore, MOS can be produced SCFAs *in vitro* and *in vivo* whereas butyric acid was detected only *in vivo*. Both XOS and MOS were safety when used in animal. Therefore, the XOS and MOS can be used as prebiotics which can be applied in various industries including the pet food and livestock, segment of food industries, infant formula, pharmaceutical as well as in the other medical fields.



REFERENCES

1. Maheshwari NV. Agro-industrial lignocellulosic waste: An alternative to unravel the future bioenergy. Biofuel: Greenhouse Gas Mitigation and Global Warming. 2018:291-305.

K. Kucharska, P. Rybarczyk, I. Holowacz, R. Lukajtis, M. Glinka and M. Kamiński,.
 Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Materials as Substrates for Fermentation Processes.
 Molecules. 2018;23(11):2937.

3. Jitendra Kumar Saini & Reetu Saini & Lakshmi Tewari. Lignocellulosic agriculture wastes as biomass feedstocks for second-generation bioethanol production: concepts and recent developments. 3 Biotech. 2014;5(4):337-53.

4. Taherzadeh MJ Karimi K. Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review. Int J Mol Sci. 2008;9(9):1621-51.

5. R. L. Day, A. J. Harpeer, R. M. Woods, O.G. Davies and L.M. Heaney,. Probiotics: current landscape and future horizons. Future Sci OA. 2019:FSO391.

6. Wichienchot S Thammarutwasik P Jongjareonrak A Chansuwan W Hmadhlu P Hongpattarakere T et al. Extraction and analysis of prebiotics from selected plants from southern Thailand. Songklanakarin J Sci Technol. 2011;33(5):517-23.

7. FAO. FAO Technical meeting on prebiotics. J Cli Gastroenterool. 2008:1-12.

Gibson GR Scott KP Rastall RA Tuohy KM Hotchkiss A Dubert-Ferrandon A et al.
 Dietary prebiotics: current status and new definition. Food Science and Technology
 Bulletin. 2011;7:1-19.

9. Wilkins T Sequoia J. Probiotics for Gastrointestinal Conditions: A Summary of the Evidence. Am Fam Physisian. 2017;96(3):170-8.

10. Gullón B Gullón P Tavaria F Pintado M Gomes AM Alonso JL et al. Structure features and assessment of prebiotic activity of refined arabinoxylooligosaccharides from wheat bran. Journal of functional foods 2014:438-49.

11. Hutkins RW Krumbeck JA Bindels LB Cani PD Fahey JG Jun GY et al. Prebiotics: why definitions matter. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2016;37:1-7.

12. P. Moura, R. Barata, F. Carvalheiro, F. Girio, M. C. Loureiro-Dias and M. P. Esteves.
In Vitro fermentation of xylooligosaccharides from corn cobs autohydrolysis by Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus strains. LWT–Food Sci Technol. 2007;40:963-72.

13. Y. C. Chung, C.K. Hsu, C.Y. Ko and Y.C. Chan, Dietary intake of xylooligosaccharides improves the intestinal microbiota, fecal moisture, and pH value in the elderly. Nutrition Research. 2007;27:756-61.

14. Yang J Summanen PH Henning SM Hsu M Lam H Huang J et al.

Xylooligosaccharide supplementation alters gut bacteria in both healthy and prediabetic adults: a pilot study. Frontiers in Physiology. 2015;6:216.

15. Christensen EG, Licht TR, Leser TD and Bahl MI. Dietary xylo-oligosaccharide stimulates intestinal bifidobacteria and lactobacilli but has limited effect on intestinal integrity rats. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7:660.

16. Yu X Yin J Li L Luan C Zhang J Zhao C et al. Prebiotic Potential of Xylooligosaccharides Derived from Corn Cobs and Their In Vitro Antioxidant Activity When Combined with Lactobacillus. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2015;25(7):1084-92.

17. Geetha K Gunasekaran P. Purification of Endoxylanase from Bacillus pumilus B20 for Production of Prebiotic Xylooligosaccharide Syrup; An In vitro Study. Iran J Biotechnol 2017;15(4):232-40.

18. J. Yang, Q. Tang, L. Xu, Z. Li, Y. Ma and D. Yao,. Combining of transcriptome and metabolome analyses for understanding the utilization and metabolic pathways of Xylooligosaccharide in Bifidobacterium adolescentis ATCC 15703. Food Sci Nutr. 2019;7(11):3480-93.

Van de Abbeele P Marzorati M Derde M De Weirdt R Joan V Possemiers S et al.
 Arabinoxylans, inulin and Lactobacillus reuteri 1063 repress the adherent-invasive
 Escherichia coli from mucus in a mucosa-comprising gut model. NPJ Biofilms
 Microbiomes 2016;27(2):16016.

20. R.J. Hills, B. A. Pontefract, H. R. Mishcon, C. A. Black, S. C. Sutton and C. R. Theberge. Gut Microbiome: Profound Implications for Diet and Disease. Nutrients 2019;11(7):E1613.

21. Modrackova N Bunesova V Vlkova E Musilova S Mrvikova I Bronsky J et al. Enteral

Nutrition as a Growth Medium for Cultivable Commensal Bacteria and Its Effect on Their Quantity in the Stool of Children with Crohn's Disease. J Med Food. 2019;22(8):810-6.

22. Nath A Haktanirlar G Varga Á Molnár MA Albert K Galambos I et al. Biological Activities of Lactose-Derived Prebioltics and Symbiotic with Probiotics on Gastrontestinal System. Medicina (Kaunas). 2018;54(2):18.

23. Kho ZY Lal SK. The Human Gut Microbiome – A Potential Controller of Wellness and Disease. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:1835.

24. N. J. Nealon, L. Yuan, X. Yang and E. P. Ryan,. Rice Bran and Probiotics Alter the Porcine Large Intestine and Serum Metabolomes for Protection against Human Rotavirus Diarrhea. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:653.

Luis Vitetta & Gemma Vitetta & Sean Hall. Immunological Tolerance and Function:
 Associations Between Intestinal Bacteria, Probiotics, Prebiotics, and Phages. Front
 Immunol. 2018;9:2240.

26. Azagra-Boronat I Massot-Cladera M Knipping K Land Bv Stahl B Garssen J et al. Supplementation With 2'-FL and scGOS/FOS Ameliorates Rotavirus-Induced diarrhea in Suckling Rats. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2018;8:372.

H. C. Lee, A. M. Jenner, C. S. Low and Y. K. Lee, Effect of tea phenolics and their aromatic fecal bacterial metabolites on intestinal microbiota. Res Microbiol. 2006;157(9):876-84.

28. Thi Hanh Tham Tran & Nadia Everaert & Jérôme Bindelle. Review on the effects of potential prebiotics on controlling intestinal enteropathogens Salmonella and Escherichia coli in pig production. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl). 2018;102(1):17-32.

29. Tanabe K Nakamura S Moriyama-Hashiguchi M Kitajima M Ejima H Imori C et al. Dietary Fructooligosaccharide and Glucomannan Alter Gut Microbiota and Improve Bone Metabolism in Scnescence-Accelerated Mouse. J Agric Food Chem. 2019;67(3):867-74.

30. Li L Xiong Q Zhao J Lin X He S Wu N et al. Inulin-type fructan intervention restricts the increase in gut microbiome-generated indole in patients with peritoneal dialysis: a randomized crossover study. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2020:nqz337.

31. Liu Z Ning C Yuan M Yang S Wei X Xiao M et al. High-level expression of a

thermophilic and acidophilic –mannanase from Aspergillus kawachii IFO 4308 with significant potential in mannooligosaccharide preparation. Bioresource Technology. 2020;295:122257.

32. Shweta Singh & Arabinda Ghosh & Arun Goyal, Manno-oligosaccharides as
Prebiotic-Valued Products from Agro-waste. Biosynthetic Technology and Environment.
2017:205-21.

33. Silvia Torrecillas & Daniel Montero & Marisol Izquierdo. Improved health and growth of fish fed mannan oligosaccharides: Potential mode of action. Fish & Shellfish Immunol. 2014;36(2):525-44.

34. M. Yamabhai, S. Sak-Ubol, W. Srila and D. Haltrich, Mannan biotechnology: From biofuels to health. Biotechnol. 2016;36(1):32-42.

K. Kucharska, P. Rybarczyk, I. Holowacz, R. Lukajtis, M. Glinka and M. Kamiński,.
 Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Materials as Substrates for Fermentation Processes.
 Molecules. 2018;23(11):2937.

36. Sandy S. Hassan & Gwilym A. Williams & Amit K. Jaiswal. Emerging technologies for the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol. 2018;262:310-8.

37. P. E. Marriott, L. D. Gómez and S. J. McQueen-Mason, Unlocking the potential of lignocellulosic biomass through plant science. New Phytol. 2016;209(4):1366-81.

38. Maurice B Hazen SP. Lignocellulosic feedstocks: research progress and challenges in optimizing biomass quality and yield. Front Plant Sci. 2013.

Ratanakhanokchai K Waeonukul R Pason P Tachaapaikoon C Kyu LK Sakka K et
 al. Paenibacillus curdlanolyticus Strain B-6 Multienzyme Complex: A Novel System for
 Biomass Utilization. Engineering "Biomass Now - Cultivation and Utilization. 2013.

40. Updegraff DM. "Semimicro determination of cellulose in biological materials". Analytical Biochemistry 1969;32(3):420-4.

41. D. Klemm, B. <u>Heublein</u>, H. P. <u>Fink</u> and A. <u>Bohn</u>, Cellulose: fascinating biopolymer and sustainable raw material. 2005;44(22):3358-93.

Scheller HV Ulvskov P. Hemicelluloses. Annual Review of Plant Biology.
 2010;61:263-89.

43. Dodd D Cann IK. Enzymatic deconstruction of xylan for biofuel production. Glob Change Biol Bioenergy 2009;1(1):12-7.

K. S. Amandeep, H. D. Brain, F. S. Robert, F. D. Mark, C. S. Jeremy and M. P. Jerry, Chemical factors that control lignin polymerization. J Phys Chem B.
2014;118(1):164-70.

45. Peter H. Raven & Ray F. Evert & Susan E. Eichhorn. Biology of Plants (7th Edition).WH Freeman & Company New York. 2005.

46. Nimz H. Beech Lignin—Proposal of a Constitutional Scheme. Angewandte chemie international edition in english 2003.

47. Ruanglek V Sriprang R Ratanaphan N Tirawongsaroj P Chantasigh D
Tanapongpipat S et al. Cloning, expression, characterization, and high cell-density
production of recombinant endo-1, 4-β-xylanase from Aspergillus niger in Pichia pastoris.
Enzyme Microb Technol. 2007;41:19-25.

48. M. Fanuel, D. Ropartz, F. Guillon, L. Saulnier and H. Rogniaux, Distribution of cell wall hemicelluloses in the wheat grain endosperm: a 3D perspective. Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature. 2018.

49. [Available from: <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Glucomannan</u>]

50. Y. Miao, J. Li, Z. Xiao, Q. Shen and R. Zhang, Characterization and identification of the xylanolytic enzymes from Aspergillus fumigatus Z5. BMC Microbiology. 2015;5:126.

51. Nisha Bhardwaj & Bikash Kumar & Pradeep Verma. A detailed overview of xylanases: an emerging biomolecule for current and future prospective. Biosour Bioprocess. 2019;6:40.

52. Saadat F. A review on chimeric xylanases: methods and conditions. Biotech. 2017;7:67.

53. Selvarajan E Veena R. Recent Advances and Future Perspectives of Thermostable Xylanase. Biosciences Biotechnology Research Asia 2017;14(1):421-38.

54. W. Sukhumsirichart, W. Deesukon, T. Kawakami, S. Matsumoto, W. Seesom and T. Sakamoto, Expression and Characterization of Recombinant GH11 Xylanase from Thermotolerant *Streptomyces* sp. SWU10. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2014;172:436-46.

55. Holtzapple MT. Hemicelluloses. Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition (Second Edition). 2013:3060-71.

56. The Plant Cell Walls [Available from:

(http://www.glycopedia.eu/IMG/pdf/the_plant_cell_walls.pdf)].

57. Moreira LR Filho EX. An overview of mannan structure and mannan-degrading enzyme systems. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2008;79(2):165-78.

58. S. Willför, R. Sjöholm, C. Laine, M. Roslund, J. Hemming and B. Holmbom,. Characterization of water-soluble galactoglucomannans from Norway spruce wood and thermomechanical pulp. Carbohydrate Polymers. 2003;52(2):175-87.

 Joanna E. Kowalczyk & Isabelle Benoit & Ronald P de Vries. Chapter Two-Regulation of Plant Biomass Utilization in Aspergillus. Advances in Applied Microbiology. 2014;88:31-56.

60. Bajpai P. Chapter 2- Wood and Fiber Fundamentals, Biermann's Handbook of Pulp and Paper (Third Edition). 2018;1:19-74.

61. P. S. Chauhan, N. Puri, P. Sharma and N. Gupta, Mannanases: microbial sources, production, properties and potential biotechnological applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2012;93(5):1817-30.

62. Dilokpimol A. Production and characterization of glycoside hydrolases from GH3, GH5, GH10, GH11 and GH61 for chemo-enzymatic synthesis of xylo- and mannooligosaccharides. Kgs Lyngby, Denmark: Technical University of Denmark. 2010.

63. P. Hägglund, T. Eriksson, A. Collén, W. Nerinckx, M. Claeyssens and H. Stålbrand,. A cellulose-binding module of the Trichoderma reesei beta-mannase Man5A increases the mannan-hydrolysis of complex substrates. J Biotechnol. 2003;101(1):37-48.

64. L. R. S. Moreira & N. G. Milanezi & E. X. F. Filho. Enzymology of Plant Cell Wall Breakdown: An Update. Routes to Cellulosic Ethanol. 2010:73-96.

P. Freiesleben, N. Spodsberg, A. Stenbæk, H. Stålbrand, K. Krogh and A. Meyer,.
Boosting of enzymatic softwood saccharification by fungal GH5 and GH26
endomannanases. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2018:11194.

66. A. Várnai, L. Huikko, J. Pere, M. Siika-Aho and L. Viikari,. Synergistic action of

xylanase and mannanase improves the total hydrolysis of softwood. Bioresour Technol. 2011;102(19):9096-104.

 J. Marco, G. Neto, C. Castro, M. Michelin, M. Polizeli and E. Filho. Partial Purification and Characterization of a Thermostable β-Mannanase from Aspergillus foetidus. Appl Sci. 2015;5(4):881-93.

W. Seesom, P. Thongket, T. Yamamoto, S. Takenaka, T. Sakamoto and W.
Sukhumsirichart, Purification, characterization, and overexpression of an endo-1,4-βmannanase from thermotolerant *Bacillus* sp. SWU60. World J Microbiol Biotechnol
2017;33(3):53.

69. Gibson GR Roberfroid MB. Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: introducing the concept of prebiotics. J Nutr. 1995;125(6):1401-12.

Slavin J. Fiber and Prebiotics: Mechanisms and Health Benefits. Nutrients.
 2013;5(4):1417-35.

71. Roberfroid MB. Prebiotics: Concept, definition, criteria, methodologies, and products. 2008.

M. Priyadarshini, K. U. Kotlo, P. K. Dudeja and B. T. Layden, Role of Short Chain
Fatty Acid Receptors in Intestinal Physiology and Pathophysiology. Compr Physiol.
2018;8(3):1091-115.

73. Marcus JB. Carbohydrate Basics: Sugars, Starches and Fibers in Foods and Health. Chemistry, Medicine 2013.

74. The American society of health-system phamacists [Available from: (https://www.drugs.com/monograph/lactulose.html)].

75. Hamilton RJ. Tarascon pocket pharmacopoeia: 2013 classic shirt-pocket edition.2013.

76. K. P. Scott, J. C. Martin, S. H. Duncan and H. J. Flint,. Prebiotic stimulation of human colonic butyrate-producing bacteria and bifidobacteria, in vitro. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2014;87(1):30-40.

77. Gibson G Scott K Rastall R Tuohy K Hotchkiss A Dubert-Ferrandon A et al. Dietary prebiotics: current status and new definition. Food Sci Technol Bull Funct Foods. 2017;7:1-

19.

78. George T. Macfarlane & Helen Steed & Sandra Macfarlane. Bacterial metabolism and health-related effects of galacto-oligosaccharides and other prebiotics. J Appl Microbiol. 2008;104(2):305-44.

79. Ferreira CL Salminen S Grzeskowiak L Brizuela MA Sanchez L Carneiro H et al. Terminology concept of probiotic and prebiotic and their role in human and animal health. Rev Salud Anim. 2011;33(3):137-46.

80. Gao Z Yin J Zhang J Ward RE Martin RJ Lefevre M et al. Butyrate impeoves insulin sensitivity and increases energy expenditure in mice. Diabetes. 2009;58(7):1509-17.

H. M. Hamer, D. Jonkers, K. Venema, S. Vanhoutvin, F. J. Troost and R. J.
Brummer, Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment Pharmacol Ther.
2007;27:104-19.

Bavani-Davari D Negahdaripour M Karimzadeh I Seifan M Mohkam M Masoumi SJ
et al. Prebiotics: Definition, Types, Sources, Mechanisms, and Clinical Applications. Foods.
2019;8(3):92.

83. X. Tzounis, A. Rodriguez-Mateos, J. Vulevic, G. R. Gibson, C. Kwik-Uribe and J. P. Spencer,. Prebiotic evaluation of cocoa-derived flavanols in healthy humans by using a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93(1):62-72.

84. Mack DR. Probiotics. Can Fam Physician. 2005;51(11):1455–7.

85. Kavita R. Pandey & Suresh R. Naik & Babu V. Vakil. Probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics- a review. J Food Sci Technol. 2015;52(12):7577-87.

86. Wang L Hu L XU Q Yin B Fand D Wang G et al. Bifidobacterium adolescentis
Exerts Strain-Specific Effects on Constipation Induced by Loperamide in BALB/c Mice. Int
J Mol Sci. 2017;18:318.

87. Dennis-Wall JC Culpepper T Nieves C Jr Rowe CC Burns AM Rusch CT et al. Probiotics (Lactobacillus gasseri KS-13, Bifidobacterium bifidum G9-1, and Bifidobacterium longum MM-2) improve rhinoconjunctivitis-specific quality of life in individuals with seasonal allergies: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;105(3):758-67.

Chen YM Wei L Chiu YS Hsu YJ Tsai TY Wang MF et al. Lactobacillus plantarum
 TWK10 Supplementation Improves Exercise Performance and Increases Muscle Mass in
 Mice. Nutrients. 2016;8:205.

89. Anna Belicová & Mária Mikulášová & Roman Dušinský. Probiotic Potential and Safety Properties of Lactobacillus plantarum from Slovak Bryndza Cheese. Biomed Research International 2013.

90. Remo Frei & Mubeccel Akdis & Liam O'Mahony. Prebiotics, probiotics, synbiotics, and the immune system: experimental data and clinical evidence. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2015;31(2):153-8.

91. A. L. Kau, P. P. Ahern, N. W. Griffin, A. L. Goodman and J. I.Gordon, Human nutrition, the gut microbiome and the immune system. Nature. 2011;474(7351):327-36.

92. Digestive diseases [Available from:

(http://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/007447.htm)].

93. Fabich AJ Jones SA Chowdhury FZ Cernosek A Anderson A Smalley D et al. Comparison of carbon nutrition for pathogenic and commensal Escherichia coli strains in the mouse intestine. Infect Immun. 2008;76(3):1143-52.

94. Winter SE Thiennimitr P Winter MG Butler BP Huseby DL Crawford RW et al. Gut inflammation provides a respiratory electron acceptor for Salmonella. Nature 2010;467(7314):426-9.

95. R. R. Monteagudo-Mera A, G. R. Gibson, D. Charalampopoulos and A. Chatzifragkou,. Adhesion mechanisms mediated by probiotics and prebiotics and their potential impact on human health. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2019;103(16):6463-72.

96. A. W. Walker, S. H. Duncan, E. C. M. Leitch, M. W. Child and H.J. Flint, pH and peptide supply can radically alter bacterial populations and short-chain fatty acid ratios within microbial communities from the human colon. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71:3692-700.

97. S. H. Duncan, P. Louis, J. M. Thomson and H. J. Flint. The role of pH in determining the species composition of the human colonic microbiota. Environ Microbiol.

2009;11:2112-22.

98. Konikoff MR Denson LA. Role of fecal calprotectin as a biomarker of intestinal inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006;12(6):524-34.

99. Azagra-Boronat I Massot-Cladera M Knipping K Van't Land B Stahl B Garssen J et al. Supplementation With 2'-FL and GOS/IcFOS Ameliorates Rotavirus-Induced Diarrhea in Suckling Rats. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2018;8:372.

100. D. B. Silk, A. Davis, J. Vulevic, G. Tzortzis and G. R. Gibson, Clinical trial: The effects of a trans-galactooligosaccharide prebiotic on feacal microbiota and symptoms in irritable bowel syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;29:508-18.

101. H. Hardy, J. Harrris, E. Lyon, J. Beal and A.D. Foey,. Probiotics, prebiotics and immunomodulation of gut mucosal defenses: homeostasis and immunopathology. Nutrients. 2013;5(6):1869-912.

102. G. Hasle, R. Raastad, G. Bjune, P. Jenum and L. Heier, Can a galactooligosaccharide reduce the risk of traveller's diarrhea? A placebo-controlleed, randomized, double-blind study. Journal of Travel Medicine. 2017;24(5):1-9.

103. Schley PD Field CJ. The immune-enhancing effects of dietary fibres and prebiotics.Br J Nutr 2002;87(2):221-30.

104. N. I. McNeil & J. H. Cummings & W. P. James. Short chain fatty acid absorption by the human large intestine. Gut. 1978;19(9):819-22.

105. Saavedra JM Tschernia A. Human studies with probiotics and prebiotics: Clinical implications. Br J Nutr. 2002;87:241-6.

106. Watson RR Preedy VR. Bioactive foods in promoting health: probiotics and prebiotics. 2010.

107. Aziz Homayouni & Laleh Payahoo & Aslan Azizi, Effects of probiotics on lipid profile: a review. Am J Food Technol. 2012;7(5):251-65.

108. T. D. T. Nguyen & J. H. Kang & M. S. Lee, Characterization of Lactobacillus plantarum PH04, a potential probiotic bacterium with cholesterol-lowering effects. Int J Food Microbiol 2007;113(3):358-61.

109. Parnell JA Reimer RA. Effect of prebiotic fibre supplementation on hepatic gene

expression and serum lipids: a dose-response study in JCR: LA-cq rats. Br J Nutr. 2010;103(11):1577-84.

110. C. K. Hsu, J. W. Liao, Y. C. Chung, C. P. Hsieh and Y. C. Chan,.

Xylooligosaccharides and fructooligosaccharides affect the intestinal microbiota and precancerous colonic lesion development in rats. J Nutr. 2004;134(6):1523-8.

111. R. E. Ley, P. J. Turnbaugh, S. Klein and J. I. Gordon. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. Nature. 2006;444(7122):1022-3.

112. R. Stienstra, C. J. Tack, T. D. Kanneganti, L. A. Joosten and M. G. Netea,. The inflammasome puts obesity in the danger zone. Cell Metab. 2012;15(1):10-8.

113. Omotayo O. Erejuwa & Siti A. Sulaiman & Mohd S. Ab Wahab. Modulation of gut microbiota in the management of metabolic disorders: the prospects and challenges. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(3):4158-88.

114. Webb GP. Dietary Supplements and Functional Foods nE. 2011.

115. Bryk G Coronel MZ Lugones C Mandalunis P Rio ME Gualtieri AF et al. Effect of a mixture of GOS/FOS® on calcium absorption and retention during recovery from protein malnutrition: experimental model in growing rats. Eur J Nutr. 2016;55(8):2445-58.

116. Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals [Available from:

(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/olaw/guide-for-the-care-and-use-of-laboratory-animals.pdf)].

117. Ronald D. Hatfield & David M. Rancour & Jane M. Marita. Grass cell walls: A story of cross-linking. Front Plant Sci. 2016;7:2056.

118. J. Olorunjuwon Olorugbami & Michael A. Gbadegesin & Oyeronke A. Odunola. In vitro free radical scavenging and antioxidant properties of ethanol extract of Terminalia glaucescens. Pharmacognosy Res. 2015;7(1):49-56.

119. Rosentrater KA Evers AD. Chemical components and nutrition. Kent's Technology of Cereals (Fifth Edition): Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition; 2018.

120. Markowiak P Slizewska K. Effects of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics on human health. Nutrients. 2017;9(9):1021.

121. Digantkumar Chapla & Pratima Pandit & Amita Shah. Production of

xylooligosaccharides from corncob xylan by fungal xylanase and their utilization by probiotics. Bioresour Technol. 2012;115:215-21.

122. A. R. Monteagudo-Mera, G. R. Gibson, D. Charalammpopoulos and A. Chatzifragkou,. Adhesion mechanisms mediated by probiotics and prebiotics and their potential impact on human health. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2019;103(16):6463-72.

J. G. LeBlanc, F. Chain, R. Martin, L. G. Bermudez-Humaran, S. Courau and P. Lagella, Beneficial effects on host energy metabolism of short-chain fatty acids and vitamins produced by commensal and probiotic bacteria. Microb Cell Fact. 2017;16:79.
Enrica P. Lactic acid bacteria contribution to gut microbiota complexity: lights and

shadows. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2012;2:86.

125. Jain M Gote M Dubey AK Narayanan S Krishnappa H Kumar DS et al. Safety evaluation of fructooligosaccharide (FOSSENCETM): Acute, 14-day, and subchronic oral toxicity study in Wistar rats. Toxicology Research and Application. 2018;2:1-20.

126. J. Khoury, F. Bahouth, Y. Stabholz, A. Elias, T. Mashiach, D. Aronson and Z. S. Azzam, Blood urea nitrogen variation upon admission and at discharge in patients with heart failure. ESC Heart Failure. 2019;6:809-16.

127. Medical News Today [Available from:

(https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/325320#normal-protein-levels)].

128. Yang D Yuan Y Wang L Mu R Pang J Xiao J et al. A review on konjac glucomannan gels: Microstructure and application. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(11):E2250.

129. M. H. Mansoori, M. Gupta, V. Mishra, N. Yadav, and M. Vyas,. Evaluation of the antioxidant activity of fruit extracts of indigenous medicinal plant, Zizyphus xylopyrus (Retz.) willd. IJGP. 2018;12(4):s863.

130. Rolim PM. Development of prebiotic food products and health benefits. Food Sci Technol. 2015;35(1):3-10.

131. Thongsook T Chaijamrus S. Optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis of copra meal: compositions and properties of the hydrolysate. J Food Sci Technol. 2018;55(9):3721-30.

132. Castro-Alba V Lazarte CE Perez-Rea D Carlsson NG Almgren A Bergenstahl B et al. Fermentation of pseudocereals quinoa, canihua, and amaranth to improve mineral

accessibility through degradation of phytate. J Sci Food Agric 2019;99(11):5239-48.

133. Honglin Dong & Iwan Rowland & Parveen Yaqoob. Comparative effects of six probiotic strains on immune function in vitro. Brit J Nutr. 2012:108:459-70.

M. Rossi, C. Corradini, A. Amaretti, M. Nicolini, A. Pompei, S. Zanoni and D.
Matteuzzi, Fermentation of Fructooligosaccharides and Inulin by Bifidobacteria: a
Comparative Study of Pure and Fecal Cultures Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71(10):6150–
8.

135. Kahouli I Malhotra M Tomaro-Duchesneau C Saha S Marinescu D Rodes LS et al. Screening and in-vitro analysis of Lactobacillus reuteri strains for short chain fatty acids production, stability and therapeutic potentials in colorectal cancer. J Bioequiv Availab. 2015;7:1.

136. Wolfe AJ. Glycolysis for the Microbiome Generation. Microbiol Spectr. 2015;3(3).

137. G. Besten, K. Eunen, A. Groen, K. Venema, D. Reijngoud and B. M. Bakker,. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. J Lipid Res. 2013;54(9):2325–40.

N. T. Baxter, A. W. Schmidt, A. Venkataraman, K. S. Kim, C. Waldron and T. M.
Schmidt, Dynamics of Human Gut Microbiota and Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Response to
Dietary Interventions with Three Fermentable Fibers. J ASM org. 2019;10(1):e02566-18.
Thursby E Juge N. Introduction to the human gut microbiota. Biochem J.
2017;474(11):1823-36.



VITA

NAME	Kanoknat Woranuch
DATE OF BIRTH	04 February 1990
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	2008 High School Bangpakok wittayakom school, Bangkok,
	Thailand
	2012 B.Sc.(2nd Hons.) in Microbiology Srinakharinwirot
	University, Bangkok, Thailand
	2019 Ph.D. in Molecular Biology Srinakharinwirot University,
	Bangkok, Thailand
HOME ADDRESS	21/15 Suksawat2 Soi, Suksawat Road, Jomthong, Bangkok,
	10150.